
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 9 December 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Council 
 

     
 

 

Thursday, 17 December 2020 at 1.00 pm 
Virtual meeting - This meeting is being held remotely 

using Skype for Business 
 

 
Members: 

 

Councillor Breda Griffin, Chairman of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Ian Stokes, Vice-Chairman of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Bob Adams Councillor Ashley Baxter Councillor David Bellamy 
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth Councillor Robert Broughton 
Councillor George Chivers Councillor Louise Clack Councillor Kelham Cooke 
Councillor John Cottier Councillor Helen Crawford Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Phil Dilks Councillor Barry Dobson Councillor Mike Exton 
Councillor Paul Fellows Councillor Helen Goral Councillor Jan Hansen 
Councillor Graham Jeal Councillor Gloria Johnson Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 
Councillor Anna Kelly Councillor Ms Jane Kingman Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Matthew Lee Councillor Nikki Manterfield Councillor Annie Mason 
Councillor Penny Milnes Councillor Virginia Moran Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley Councillor Robert Reid Councillor Nick Robins 
Councillor Susan Sandall Councillor Ian Selby Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith Councillor Lee Steptoe Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Adam Stokes Councillor Jill Thomas Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 
Councillor Sarah Trotter Councillor Dean Ward Councillor Hannah Westropp 
Councillor Hilary Westropp Councillor Amanda Wheeler Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Jane Wood Councillor Paul Wood Councillor Sue Woolley 
Councillor Linda Wootten Councillor Ray Wootten  
   

 

Agenda 
 
 
 

Please note this meeting is for those agenda items adjourned from the Council 
meeting held on 26, November 2020. 

 
 
 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting agenda @southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Council – 17 December 2020 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 
before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 
meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 
Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 

 

1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of Interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2019/20 
This report covers meetings and activity from the 2019/20 municipal year. It 
provides a summary of the work undertaken by all the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees during 2019/20. 
 

(Pages 5 - 34) 

4.   Housing Compliance Audit 2020 including Riverside Inquiry and Housing 
Development Update 
To provide Members with an update and information regarding the Housing 
Compliance Audit and the Riverside Independent Inquiry 2020. 
 

(Pages 35 - 97) 

5.   Updates from the Leader of the Council 
 

 

 a)   Meetings of the Cabinet 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 13 October 2020 (approved by 
the Cabinet on 3 November 2020) are provided for Councillors’ information. 
The minutes of the meeting held on 3 November 2020 will be made available 
at a future meeting of the Council following their approval by the Cabinet. 
(This item includes an exempt appendix, which can be found at item 15 of 
the agenda pack). 
 

(Pages 99 - 107) 

 b)   Decisions made under urgency provisions 
This report sets out those decisions that have been made under urgency 
provisions set out within the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 and the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 

 General Exception – disposal of a Council Asset – St. Martin’s Park, 
Stamford 

 

(Pages 109 - 110) 

6.   Members' Open Questions 
A 45-minute period in which members may ask questions of the Leader, Cabinet Members, the 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and opposition group 
leaders excluding the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee, Licensing and 
Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Licensing Committees and Governance and 
Audit Committee. 
 
 
 

 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/N7437FMS
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

7.   Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9 of the Council's Constitution: 
 

 

 a)   Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
This Council will undertake an urgent and complete review of the management and 
enforcement of environmental regulations in relation to the maintenance of the wellbeing and 
safety of private tenants and other residents within the South Kesteven District. 

a) The review will include the examination of communications and formal complaints 
received in relation to the failure of private landlords and/or tenants to comply with 
legislative requirements.  

b) The review will consider how promptly and how effectively those complaints are handled. 
c) An examination will take place of existing national legislation  
d) the procedures implemented by South Kesteven District Council, and the speed and level 

of enforcement action and use of escalation taken by South Kesteven District Council 
Environmental Officers, particularly where there is an issue relating to safety and the 
wellbeing of tenants and residents affected. 

e) It will identify if adequate resource has been allocated to the Environmental team to 
enable officers to carry out their duties fully to ensure South Kesteven District Council 
remains compliant.  

f) The findings of the review will be reported back to full Council with any issues identified 
and agreed action/resources required to address them. 

 

 

 b)   Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
Recognising there is a shortage of affordable social housing and need to support all, including 
our most vulnerable residents, South Kesteven District Council members support the provision 
of an SKDC funded Rent Guarantor Scheme or Guaranteed Rent Scheme to enable 
residents in receipt of benefit income or a pension to gain access to housing in the private 
rented sector.  

a) It provides an assurance to private landlords and housing associations that their rental 
costs and potential repair costs will be met for the duration of the Term of the Contract.  

b) It offers councils the ability to re-house people, notably in receipt of benefits, or, low 
income, otherwise unable to access private rented housing left in inappropriate 
accommodation and/or for prolonged periods on the council waiting list.  

c) The scheme also enables the council to agree predefined standards with both tenant and 
landlord.  

 

 

8.   Exclusion of Press and Public 
To exclude the press and public from the meeting during the discussion of the 
following items of business due to the likelihood that information that is exempt under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because it contains information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 
that information). 
 

 

9.   Meetings of Cabinet - Appendix 2 
To receive Appendix 2 to the report, exempt minute Cabinet 13 October 2020 
 

(Pages 111 - 112) 

The deadline for notices of motion for the Council meeting on Thursday, 28 January 2021 is 1pm on Friday 
15 January 2021. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Council 
26 November 2020 

Report of: Councillor Graham Jeal 

  Chairman of Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Chairmen 
2019/20 

         
  

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees Annual Report 
2019/20  

This report covers meetings and activity from the 2019/20 municipal year. It provides a summary 
of the work undertaken by all the Overview and Scrutiny Committees during 2019/20. 

 

 

Report Author 

Zena West, Scrutiny Officer 

 
 01476 40 6047 

  Zena.west@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 23 October 2020 

Approved by: Dan Snowdon, Interim Head of Governance 16 November 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Graham Jeal, Chair of Scrutiny Chairs 
2019/2020 

16 November 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To note the update provided from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees on their 
work during the 2019/2020 municipal year (appendix 1) 

 

5

Agenda Item 3

mailto:Zena.west@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 This annual report provides a summary of the activity of those Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees that were in place during 2019/20, as required by the Council’s constitution. It 

contains a summary of the topics that each Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 

considered at its meetings during the 2019/20 municipal year including the combined 

Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 This report has been produced in consultation with the Chairs and Vice Chairs of the four 

main Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and Councillors have been consulted during a 

Scrutiny Chairs meeting held 13 March 2020 as to what the report should highlight. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Council’s Constitution prescribes that an annual Overview and Scrutiny report is 

produced. It is also in the interests of openness, transparency and good governance to 

review the work of Scrutiny. No other options were considered. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 As this report is required by the Constitution, no other options were considered.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The report is required by the Constitution. 

6 Financial Implications  

6.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance 

7 Legal and Governance Implications  

7.1 It is a requirement under Article 7.1(iii) of the Constitution that an annual Scrutiny report is 

submitted to Council. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer 

8 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

8.1 There are no equality and safeguarding implications to consider. 

9 Risk and Mitigation 

9.1 There are no specific risks arising from this report. 

10 Community Safety Implications  

10.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a ‘climate emergency’? 

11.1 There are no climate implications and the report itself is carbon neutral. 

 

 

6



 

 
 

12 Background Papers 

12.1 South Kesteven District Council’s Constitution - 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3745/Public%20reports%20pack%20

19th-Mar-2020%20Constitution.pdf?T=10&Info=1 

12.2 Agendas, reports and minutes from Overview and Scrutiny Committees held during the 

2019/20 municipal year - 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1  

13 Appendices 

13.1 Appendix 1 – Introduction and Role of Scrutiny 

Work of the Joint Budget Scrutiny Committee 

Work of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Work of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Work of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Work of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Council 26 September 2019 

Final Decision date   26 November 2020 

 

7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3745/Public%20reports%20pack%2019th-Mar-2020%20Constitution.pdf?T=10&Info=1
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3745/Public%20reports%20pack%2019th-Mar-2020%20Constitution.pdf?T=10&Info=1
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Annual Report 

2019-2020 
  

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees 

Report of: The Chairs of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees 

   

         
  

9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

2 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction............................................................................................................................................ 4 

2. Role of Scrutiny ..................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee ............................................................................................ 5 

3.5 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) ...................................................................................................... 5 

3.6 Capital Programme 2020/21 – 2022/23 and Reserves and Balances ................................................. 6 

3.7 Other Financial Considerations .......................................................................................................... 6 

4. Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee ........................................................... 6 

4.1 Markets .............................................................................................................................................. 6 

4.2 Cultural Strategy ................................................................................................................................ 7 

4.3 Community Asset Toolkit ................................................................................................................... 7 

4.3.2 Bourne Town Hall Restoration Project ............................................................................................ 7 

4.3.4 Deepings Youth Group ................................................................................................................... 7 

4.3.5 Stamford Arts Centre ...................................................................................................................... 8 

4.4 Festivals ............................................................................................................................................ 8 

4.6 Read Dating - Positive Engagement with Libraries ............................................................................. 9 

4.7 Savoy cinema opening ....................................................................................................................... 9 

5. Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee .................................................................................... 9 

5.1 Resources and Waste Strategy Consultations ................................................................................... 9 

5.1.1 Food Waste Trial ............................................................................................................................ 9 

5.2 Approach to Climate Change ........................................................................................................... 10 

5.3 Gambling Statement of principles .................................................................................................... 10 

5.4 Tree Guidelines................................................................................................................................ 10 

5.5 Position Statement on the Intentional Release of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons .................. 11 

5.6 Scrap Metal Dealers ........................................................................................................................ 11 

5.7 Grounds Maintenance update .......................................................................................................... 11 

5.8 Textile Banks/recycling .................................................................................................................... 11 

5.9 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy ........................................................................ 12 

5.10 Performance Indicators .................................................................................................................... 12 

5.11 Single Use plastic aspirations .......................................................................................................... 12 

6. Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview Scrutiny Committee ................... 12 

6.1 Proposed development at Stamford North ....................................................................................... 12 

6.2 Invest to Save Reserve .................................................................................................................... 13 

6.2.2 Financial Services Review ............................................................................................................ 13 

6.2.5 Internet of Things project .............................................................................................................. 14 

6.2.7 Advertising and sponsorship initiative ........................................................................................... 14 

6.4 2018/19 Outrun ................................................................................................................................ 14 

6.5 Performance Reporting .................................................................................................................... 15 

10



 

3 

6.6 Quarter 2 Performance .................................................................................................................... 16 

6.7 Quarter 3 Performance .................................................................................................................... 16 

6.8 Funding Update ............................................................................................................................... 16 

6.9 Contract Tendering Process Review ................................................................................................ 16 

6.10 Finance Update Report – Quarter 1 2019/20 ................................................................................... 17 

6.11 Finance Update Report – Quarter 2 2019/20 ................................................................................... 17 

6.12 Finance Update Report – Quarter 3 2019/20 ................................................................................... 17 

6.13 Local Plan – Proposed Main Modifications ....................................................................................... 18 

6.14 Deepings Special Expense Area ...................................................................................................... 18 

6.15 Fees and Charges - Charging Policy ................................................................................................ 19 

6.16 Future Leisure Management Options ............................................................................................... 19 

6.16.3 Grantham Meres Leisure Centre .................................................................................................. 19 

6.16.4 Deepings Leisure Centre .............................................................................................................. 19 

6.17 ICT Infrastructure Transformation .................................................................................................... 20 

6.18 Asset Management Strategy ............................................................................................................ 20 

7. Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee ................................................................. 20 

7.1 Consideration of the Remit and Work Programme of the Rural and Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee .................................................................................................................................... 21 

7.2 Crowdfunding ................................................................................................................................... 21 

7.3 Update from cabinet ......................................................................................................................... 21 

7.4 Update on condensate pipes............................................................................................................ 22 

7.5 Modernising Housing Services ......................................................................................................... 22 

7.6 Equalities Annual Position Statement ............................................................................................... 22 

7.7 Turnaround on Void Properties ........................................................................................................ 23 

7.8 Tenancy Agreement ......................................................................................................................... 23 

7.9 Healthy Conversation Consultation .................................................................................................. 24 

7.10 Housing Strategy refresh ................................................................................................................. 24 

7.11 Customer Experience Strategy ........................................................................................................ 25 

7.12 Debt Collection – Stop the Knock ..................................................................................................... 25 

7.13 Safeguarding Policy ......................................................................................................................... 26 

7.14 Tenancy Strategy ............................................................................................................................. 26 

 

  

11



 

4 

1. Introduction 

1.1 During 2019/20 South Kesteven District had four Overview and Scrutiny Committees, with 

a membership of non-Cabinet members. From 1 October 2019, South Kesteven created a 

position for a dedicated Scrutiny Officer to provide dedicated support for the Scrutiny 

function going forward. 

1.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees are responsible for discharging the functions 

conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and the discharge of functions 

under Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Crime and Disorder (Overview 

and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009, which require councils to put arrangements in place to 

designate a committee as a crime and disorder scrutiny committee.  

1.3 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for monitoring the Council’s 

performance, considering its decisions, questioning how those decisions are made and 

recommending improvements. The committees may also undertake external scrutiny to 

examine wider issues that affect the district. The Constitution allows for any of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees to carry out crime and disorder scrutiny, however this function is 

normally carried out by the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

2. Role of Scrutiny 

2.1 There are four key functions of scrutiny: 

2.1.1 To provide a “critical friend” challenge to the Cabinet as well as external authorities and 

agencies: 

• Challenge by scrutiny should be constructive, robust and purposeful. 

• Scrutiny should work effectively with the Cabinet and senior management. 

• Scrutiny should provide an effective mechanism for the Cabinet to demonstrate public 

accountability. 

2.1.2 To reflect the voice and concerns of the public and its communities: 

• Scrutiny should take a community leadership role by focusing on issues of public 

concern. 

• Scrutiny should have a constructive relationship with the press and media. 

• Scrutiny should create the conditions for plural views and concerns to be considered. 

2.1.3 Scrutiny members should take the lead and own the scrutiny process on behalf of the public: 

• Scrutiny should operate with political impartiality. 

• Scrutiny should have ownership of its work programme. 

• Scrutiny members should have a worthwhile and fulfilling role. 

2.1.4 Scrutiny should make an impact on the delivery of public services: 

• Scrutiny should have access to timely and accurate performance information. 

• The scrutiny work programme should be balanced, well co-ordinated and integrated 

into corporate processes. 

• Scrutiny work should be carried out with strategic objectives in mind. 

12



 

5 

• Scrutiny should contribute to improving local public services. 

3. Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Chairman: Councillor Graham Jeal 

3.1 The Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 14 January 2020. The Committee 

was given a presentation on the medium-term financial outlook and budget update, which 

summarised the budget report and appendices and provided the national context in which 

the budget had been prepared. 

3.2 The Committee considered revenue and capital budgets associated with the General Fund 

and Housing Revenue Account. It also included fees and charges proposals and information 

on reserves and balances. 

3.3 The Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s other considerations included: 

• The funding settlement from the government. 

• Continuation of the Rural Services Delivery Grant for 2020/21. 

• The New Homes Bonus with an anticipated future reduction. 

• Options for setting council tax. 

• Anticipated support from Fair Funding Review and Business Rates.  

• Special Expense Area (SEA) levy exemption. 

• Stamford, Bourne and Deepings Customer Services access improvements. 

• Funding provision to InvestSK for realignment of work, with responsibility for Arts 
and Heritage returning to the Council responsibility. 

• Council pension reserve fund utilisation and planned return to core expenditure. 

• Measures to encourage recycling within the Budget. 

• Payment options for the Council car parks.  

3.4 The failure to meet planned savings within the 2019/20 budget had been raised by the 

Committee who received assurance that these savings would be included within the budget 

proposals for 2020/21. Assurances were also provided, that work undertaken would include 

explanations as to how these savings were attained. The process was summarised to the 

Committee - it would include a review as part of performance monitoring by the Finance and 

Economic Development Overview and Scrutiny Committee, development of a senior 

management structure proposal by the Leader of the Council and the new Chief Executive, 

and deliberation by the Employment Committee.       

3.5 Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   

3.5.1 The Committee was presented with the HRA section of the report by the Cabinet Member 

for Finance and Resources. The Council would be adopting a refreshed Housing Strategy 

in the 2020/21 period including new rent increase proposals. The Disabled Facilities Grant 

was confirmed to remain the same being driven by demand within budgetary considerations. 

13



 

6 

3.6 Capital Programme 2020/21 – 2022/23 and Reserves and Balances  

3.6.1 The Committee was informed that an anticipated capital investment programme funded 

through external funding was required in the short to medium term. The recommendation 

made was for deferral to enable the completion of business cases and feasibility studies 

with regard to leisure offer changes.  

3.7 Other Financial Considerations  

3.8 The Committee had considered and noted the content of the report and the appended 

documents and considered that a comprehensive review of the budget proposals for 

2020/21 in respect of the General Fund (revenue and capital) and Housing Revenue 

Account (revenue and capital) had been undertaken. Members were informed that 

consideration at Cabinet and further discussions were required, the final budget would then 

be presented for adoption at the February meeting of Council (the date of this meeting was 

moved to 2 March 2020).  

4. Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Chairman: Councillor Judy Stevens 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Hilary Westropp 

During the 2019/20 municipal year, the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee met on four occasions. A meeting scheduled for 7 April 2020 was cancelled due 

to COVID-19. A summary of the items considered by the committee is set out below.  

4.1 Markets 

4.1.1 The Committee had welcomed the Head of Town Centres at its meeting on 4 July 2019 to 

discuss markets. This was explained as a compilation of a Market Strategy that 

encompassed all the four main towns,  emphasising a successful launch of a new market in 

Market Deeping on 20 April 2019. Regardless of size, markets were shown to bring in extra 

revenue to town centres.  

4.1.2 Members heard from the Leader of the Council who provided a background to the rescue 

of the previous dwindling markets that were now subsidised by the Council. He explained 

how the subsidy was measured in relation to economic impact and other strategic retail 

advantages. He had further stressed the need for consistency with the right stall holders for 

each specific town and growth.  

4.1.3 Members also discussed local markets such as Bourne, Stamford and Market Deeping. 

Specific attention was drawn to the benefits to the towns, standby stall allocations and the 

importance of location. Further discussions had centred around various types of markets, 

shows and younger generation involvement. The Committee felt that a Market Strategy 

needed to link in with all other aspects such as the Visitor Economy, town centres, the 

Cultural Strategy and heritage.  

4.1.4 Members also received a further presentation at the Committee Meeting held on 

11 February 2020 that had highlighted the benefits and challenges to traders and the 

hosting authority from markets. The success of Stamford market was reported while 

Grantham and Bourne markets had reported challenges; however, the international food 

market in Grantham had been successful. The Deepings market had been closed for the 

winter period due to poor numbers.  

14



 

7 

4.2 Cultural Strategy  

4.2.1 The Committee received presentations from InvestSK at meetings held on 3 September 

2019 and 5 November 2019. Members were provided with updates of progress to works on 

areas outlined below. 

4.2.2 InvestSK had provided an update to the Committee of their progress of work on the Cultural 

Strategy at a meeting of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

held in September 2019.  Work scheduled on the Cultural Strategy was also outlined to 

Members which included public engagement and consultation of the draft version of the 

Cultural Strategy. It also considered factors raised from an earlier public consultation that 

included encouragement of public engagement through communication of events with 

cultural activities; costs of events; improved meet and share opportunities for local artists; 

pop-up galleries for new artists; clubs and community groups. 

4.2.3 The Cultural Strategy Consultation had taken place over three months from 1 March to 

31 May 2020 with respondents completing a web-based survey form. This had concluded 

that there was good support for visits to the cinema, theatre, heritage/museums and 

listening to music with strong support to physical activity, particularly walking. The 

completed draft version of the Cultural Strategy was planned to incorporate feedback from 

residents and stakeholders and then circulated to all those who had participated in the 2019 

consultation. 

4.2.4 At its meeting on 5 November 2019 the Committee had made three recommendations: 

1. The Cultural Strategy to include a communications and promotions strategy, with 

the potential provision of a “cultural events portal” to be investigated.  

2. Networking events for local artists, societies and community groups to be 

facilitated and promoted by the Council and InvestSK. Time and location were 

deliberated to encourage maximum community engagement. 

3. Ensure that the Cultural Strategy gives consideration to rate relief and sets out 

the criteria by which it could be applied to for creative enterprises. 

4.3 Community Asset Toolkit 

4.3.1 It had been acknowledged that positive work and support had been offered by Local 

Councils, SKDC Officers and InvestSK to provide support for community initiatives, such as: 

4.3.2 Bourne Town Hall Restoration Project – At its meeting that was held on 5 November 

2019 the Committee received a presentation from Charles Housego of The Town Hall Trust 

who explained their aims and plans for current and future works. The project aimed to create 

a small community arts centre while restoring the original building. A business plan had 

identified that £1.8 million would be required to undertake the full scope of works, including 

purchase of the lease from Lincolnshire County Council to the Town Hall Trust. An 

expression of interest for Heritage Lottery funding was under preparation at the time. 

4.3.3 Interim works had enabled a programme of events to be held. The Town Hall Trust were not 

providing a room hire function as it was envisaged to be primarily an arts venue. The pop-

up cinema had been planned to be extended to be monthly to follow on from its success 

over the summer period. 

4.3.4 Deepings Youth Group – A presentation was made to the Committee on 5 November 2019 

setting out the positive collaborative work jointly with the Council and InvestSK. This 

15



 

8 

included working with youths and a local artist covering some graffiti with artwork at a nature 

reserve. Future joint working is planned.  

4.3.5 Stamford Arts Centre – Members received a briefing from the Stamford Arts Centre 

outlining their services. The art gallery had a four-year waiting list of interested artists. 

Additional spaces were available for events from small community group gatherings, cinema 

screenings and touring theatre productions within the three buildings of the Stamford Arts 

Centre. Maintenance and repair issues were flagged and included a leaking roof and 

emergency works to the repair of a collapsed floor. A future works plan was being put in 

place. 

4.4 Festivals 

4.4.1 The Committee on 4 June 2019 received an update following the second Deepings Literary 

Festival that ran between 23 and 26 May 2019 with the launch on 22 May 2019 being well 

attended.  Following the positive community involvement, Members considered means for 

future successful replication and development in promoting literature across the district. 

4.5 More literary events had been planned on the back of the Literary Festival and it was 

proposed that an event would happen during each season of the year.  

4.5.1 Members were updated on 5 November 2019 following The Stamford Georgian Festival, 

which had taken place during September 2019 with a number of successful events and a 

high level of community engagement. Members observed the effectiveness of the Georgian 

theme and were satisfied for this theme to remain; though other parts of the District could 

consider alternative themes. Media coverage had been good. Future work to encourage 

local businesses to participate during the festival period and exploration of alternative routes 

with economic impact assessments would be planned.  

4.5.2 At its meeting on 5 November 2019 the Committee received a briefing following The 

Bourne CiCLE Festival that had been organised jointly by InvestSK and the Council. It 

was held on 31 August and 1 September 2019 to bring both economic benefits to the town 

and build community engagement alongside the involvement of local schools.  

4.5.3 The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy explained at the meeting held on 
11 February 2020, that timescales may not allow for the festival to be held in 2020. Members 
sought clarification as to the future of the festival to proceed in 2020. The Chair had 
requested a written statement in response to the Committee’s recommendation “to support 
the CiCLE Festival being held in 2020, subject to stronger budgetary controls and greater 
community and business involvement”. 

4.5.4 Members heard at their meeting held on 11 February 2020 details of a suggested Charles 

Worth Festival. The concept was in response to an idea by a resident that had then been 

developed further by InvestSK into ‘Bourne by Design’. The idea took inspiration from 

Charles Worth and could be piloted over two or three days as a community led event 

supported by Council funding. Potential events and venues were discussed, with the 

suggestion to concentrate the theme on fashion and design but also incorporate links with 

theatre and TV/cinema. 

16



 

9 

4.6 Read Dating - Positive Engagement with Libraries  

4.6.1 Members were informed at their meeting held on 3 September 2019 of progress following 

the Deepings Literary Festival that had developed further through community libraries, 

utilisation of local authors and “Read Dating” (a similar principal of speed dating). Read 

Dating was explained as a group of people interested in a reading joined with local authors 

who had a set time each to discuss their work and books. The concept was hugely 

successful, costs were minimal and both the authors and the people who attended gave 

positive feedback. Equal success followed with “Pint and Poetry”.  

4.7 Savoy cinema opening 

4.7.1 At the Committee’s meeting held on 3 September 2019 it was agreed that the opening of 

the new cinema could have been a greater spectacle and was perhaps a missed opportunity 

to maximise community engagement. However, it was noted that the cinema initiative was 

a positive step for Grantham. There was confidence that the empty units in the cinema 

complex would be filled.  

5. Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Chairman: Councillor Chris Benn 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor John Cottier 

During the 2019/20 municipal year, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee met 

on four occasions. A meeting scheduled for 28 April 2020 was cancelled due to COVID-19. 

A summary of the items considered by the committee is set out below.  

5.1 Resources and Waste Strategy Consultations 

5.1.1 Food Waste Trial  

The Committee was presented with a report on the response to the Government’s 

Resources and Waste Strategy for England at its meeting held on 18 June 2019. Out of four 

responses only one was relevant to the district. Members debated the food waste element 

which would enforce a separate weekly collection by 2023. Consideration was made for 

those new Members who had not been in place at the initial presentation with the timing of 

the consultation causing extensive impact.  

The Government’s formal response was anticipated in September 2019. Alternative 

collection methodologies for collection efficiencies were investigated. Members were 

conscious of the cost of collection of food waste alongside the benefits from disposal. 

5.1.2 The SKDC Food Waste Trial consultation results were presented to the Committee on 17 

September 2019 with responses to the consultation being reported as positive. 

5.1.3 Funding from Lincolnshire County Council via the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership was 

anticipated to help expand the scheme across the district. Members considered the 

additional cost of food waste collection in comparison to the financial remuneration for the 

disposal of the waste and the high financial implications of the food waste collection service 

alongside the environmental benefits. 

5.1.4 On 25 February 2020 the Committee was provided with an update on the food waste 

collection trial that had been funded by the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership. Members were 

supportive of the food waste collection trial, but were warned of the significant costs to the 

Council if a district-wide food waste collection service were funded independently as the 

disposal authority was Lincolnshire County Council. The future of food waste collection 

services would potentially be influenced by changes in Government legislation. 

17



 

10 

5.2 Approach to Climate Change 

5.2.1 The Committee received a wide-ranging presentation on Climate Change at their meeting 

held on Tuesday 18 June 2019 including samples of work by other authorities. Committee 

priorities were discussed with a workshop proposed to include both officers and external 

expert contributors. The suggested focus was to look at technology, carbon reduction and 

carbon offsetting. 

5.2.2 On 17 September 2019 a presentation was given to Committee Members following a climate 

change workshop held on 30 July 2019. Key messages from the workshop had included: 

• Clear targeting, decision making with short-term and long-term goals. 

• Adoption of new technologies. 

5.2.3 Further work was identified over the Council’s use of utilities as well as financial benefits 

from solar panels. Members agreed an additional workshop on 28 October 2019.  

5.2.4 Members received a presentation on 17 September 2019 about the draft Terms of 

Reference for the Chief Executive’s Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group that had 

been agreed at the meeting of Cabinet on 10 September 2019. This was to report back on 

the aim of the Council to become net-zero carbon by 2050 with reductions to the 

organisation’s carbon footprint of 30% by 2030. 

5.2.5 The Committee received a presentation at its meeting on 25 February 2020 with an update 

on the priorities arising from the Chief Executive’s Climate Change Action Task and Finish 

Group. Options included the use of LED (Light Emitting Diode) lighting and paper reduction. 

Members supported installation of LED lighting as standard in the offices at St Peter’s Hill 

and South Kesteven House with consideration for inclusion of other Council owned 

properties. The cost of installation and the corresponding payback periods would need to 

be considered and Members felt that initially the priority needed to be on installation works 

in the identified key buildings.  

5.2.6 Members discussed the potential for paper reduction across the Council, focusing on 

Members’ administration tasks and the use of report papers at meetings. The Committee 

acknowledged that Committees had varying requirements and some use of paper was 

necessary with other alternatives considered. 

5.3 Gambling Statement of principles 

5.3.1 On 17 September 2019 Members considered the report by the Cabinet Member for 

Commercial and Operations that included the draft Statement of Principles. The Gambling 

Act 2005 obliged the Council to publish a Statement of Principles every three years; the 

current Statement was due for renewal by January 2020. A public consultation had been 

undertaken as part of the renewal process. No changes to the draft Statement were deemed 

necessary as a result of the responses. Members agreed to recommend that Cabinet 

present the Statement to Council for adoption. 

5.4 Tree Guidelines 

5.4.1 On 17 September 2019 Members were asked to consider the report from the Cabinet 

Member for Commercial and Operations following requests for the Council to formulate a 

clearer, more formal stance to its approach to trees and tree management. Members 

considered three documents ‘Member Tree Notification Protocol’, a ‘Charter for Trees, 

Woods and People’ and ‘Tree Guidelines’ aimed at creating a coherent model to guide how 

the Council dealt with trees. 

18



 

11 

5.4.2 Members welcomed the production of the Charter for Trees, Woods and People which had 

been put together with the support of the Woodland Trust. This acknowledged the 

requirement for the Council to balance its positive commitment to trees with its wider 

obligations as a public sector organisation. Members agreed to the development of a policy 

relating to tree replanting with the Council playing an increased contributory role.  

5.4.3 Members were provided with an update at the meeting held on 25 February 2020 on steps 

taken by the Council to protect and promote the planting of trees. They were also provided 

with updates over the process for applying for a Tree Preservation Order and potential sites 

for rewilding. 

5.5 Position Statement on the Intentional Release of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns and 

Balloons 

5.5.1 The Committee received a report of the draft Position Statement on the Intentional Release 

of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons at its meeting held on 26 November 2019. In 

response to national environmental concerns surrounding the release of sky lanterns, the 

position of the Council was that the intentional release of sky (Chinese) lanterns and 

balloons on its own land which is open to the public, including council owned parks or open 

spaces is not permitted. Seasonal traditional cultural events which did not involve the 

release of balloons or sky lanterns on Council land would still be permissible. 

5.6 Scrap Metal Dealers 

5.6.1 Members received a report at their meeting held on 26 November 2019 providing an update 

and explanation of the Council’s responsibilities under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013. 

This Act was in response to the rising level of metal theft and required that all scrap metal 

dealers held a licence with local authorities that gave authority to licence scrap metal dealers 

in accordance with the provisions of the Act.  

5.7 Grounds Maintenance update 

5.7.1 The Committee received an update at its meeting held on 26 November 2019 on the 

ground’s maintenance service provided by EnvironmentSK. Having become the Council’s 

grounds maintenance provider earlier in the year, Members were informed that it would now 

be possible to review the provision specification towards budget savings or to complement 

the Council’s other initiatives. It was noted that there had been a low level of complaints 

received.  

5.7.2 Members also discussed and considered the disparity of grass verge maintenance around 

the district which was the responsibility of the Lincolnshire County Council Highways 

Department as well as managed biodiversity areas following success in other areas. It was 

recognised and noted by Members that close monitoring and management of any 

biodiversity sites would be required. 

5.8 Textile Banks/recycling 

5.8.1 An explanation over the current provision for textile recycling in the district was provided to 

the Committee when it met on 26 November 2019. The Council did not allow textiles to be 

included in recycling bins as they were not classified as domestic waste. There was a 

requirement for the Council to provide licences for the charity street textile collections.  

5.8.2 Members also discussed the provision of charity textile banks on Council-owned land with 

concerns raised over overfilling and reported ethical factors. A Council-operated bag 

collection for textiles was also debated. Neither of these recommendations were upheld. 

19



 

12 

5.9 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 

5.9.1 The Chair gave Members a presentation on 25 February 2020, outlining the outcomes of 

the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy workshop. Members supported the 

inclusion of a ban of e-cigarettes and vaping devices in licensed vehicles under the SKDC 

penalty point scheme. A draft policy under construction would be considered by the Cabinet 

before being put out for public consultation. 

5.9.2 The role of the Council in encouraging environmental sustainability was discussed by 

Members including providing an increased annual vehicle licence discount for zero 

emissions vehicles.  

5.10 Performance Indicators 

5.10.1 Details of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) were presented to the 

Committee on 26 November 2019 that included waste management performance indicators. 

The Council, as a member of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP), was guided by the 

JMWMS and its associated targets. The Committee was asked to consider the additional 

introduction of performance indicators to measure the performance of South Kesteven 

District Council as a collection authority. 

5.10.2 The Committee had been directed to be pragmatic in identification of targets as not all were 

under Council control. Members considered which performance indicators they would like 

to see presented at future meetings with agreement for a bi-annual report to include updates 

of the performance measures.  

5.11 Single Use plastic aspirations 

5.11.1 The Committee received a presentation by The Cabinet Member for Commercial and 

Operations on 25 February 2020 relating to the use of single use plastics at South Kesteven 

District Council. The potential to include specific reference to the use of single use plastics 

in procurement contracts were considered by the Committee as well as within the 

operational aspect of the Council’s services.  

5.11.2 Members suggested promotion of publicly available water refill stations and publicity of the 

Council’s water dispenser in the Customer Services area for the use of refillable bottles. 

Single use plastics, including a report considering potential areas for reduction and 

suggested alternatives, were agreed to be considered again at a future meeting. 

6. Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 

Scrutiny Committee 

Chairman: Councillor Graham Jeal 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Mark Whittington 

During the 2019/20 municipal year, the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 

Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on seven occasions. A meeting scheduled 

for 30 April 2020 was cancelled due to COVID-19. A summary of the items considered by 

the committee is set out below.  

6.1 Proposed development at Stamford North 

6.1.1 At its meeting held on 4 June 2019, the Committee was provided with the context of the 

report of the Cabinet Member for Planning on the Statement of Common Ground for the 

proposed development at Stamford North. The report had arisen out of SKDC’s Local Plan, 

20



 

13 

which was approved by Council in May 2018. As part of this process the Council had to 

evidence how it worked with neighbouring authorities under the duty to co-operate. 

6.1.2 Details of the land boundaries were explained. A Statement of Common Ground would set 

out the principles of how the relevant local authorities (South Kesteven District Council, 

Rutland County Council and Lincolnshire County Council) would work together.  

6.1.3 Members established that this document was the first part of a three-stage process in 

developing the site with the second phase being the formation of a development brief for 

the site and the third phase would be the submission and determination of planning 

applications. An infrastructure delivery plan would be included to consider the impact of 

allocations so that sufficient infrastructure provision was in place to accommodate the 

planned growth. Members were further informed that there would be capacity for an 

allocation of 1350 properties, while the Quarry Farm part of the site, which was in Rutland, 

had capacity for 650 properties.  

6.1.4 Members raised a number of questions to the report which included the legal agreements 

required for the three landowners; procedure for any legal dispute or judicial review; capacity 

of the site in comparison to existing development density in Stamford; Section 106 

Agreements; risk management and governance and health provision. 

6.1.5 Members were notified on 16 July 2019 that the draft Statement of Common Ground was 

agreed for adoption by Cabinet on 11 June 2019, subject to minor amendments and 

decisions by Rutland County Council and Lincolnshire County Council. 

6.2 Invest to Save Reserve 

6.2.1 On 14 June 2019 Members had debated the Invest to Save Reserve having flagged up 

concerns over lack of detail, grouping of items and the status of Publitas. These were 

discussed by the Committee in turn: 

6.2.2 Financial Services Review was presented by the Assistant Director for Resources who 

provided an overview of the Financial Services Review. He explained that it was part of the 

budget preparation process for 2019/20. The Council was continuing its transformation 

programme, one element of which was service reviews. The consultant had spent time with 

each member of the Financial Services Team and then produced an action plan ensuring 

needs of the authority aligned with resources aimed at making savings through the 

identification of commercial opportunities to raise income.  

6.2.3 Several questions were asked with Members concerned over the additional demand on 

Council resources and staffing. Other services would also be subject to a similar review 

process to establish whether they were value for money and fit for purpose. In addition to 

the identification of savings and opportunities for income generation, the review also 

included the development of a comprehensive action plan to help the team become more 

efficient and better support the wider organisation.  

6.2.4 The decision as to whether the review should be funded from the Invest to Save Reserve 

was for this Committee to consider, which raised further questions from Members.  Members 

were concerned over the reporting of savings, early notification and the origins of the Invest 

to Save Reserve which had £1m of agreed finance. Concerns were also expressed over the 

review process, particularly the process that had been followed in setting objectives and 

how it was funded.  

21



 

14 

6.2.5 Internet of Things project was being worked on by Digital Catapult who support local 

authorities to use innovation and technology to deliver enhanced digital solutions. Digital 

Catapult was working on a project to do with the development of intelligent streetlights that 

incorporated sensors to capture additional information, such as data from footfall, air 

pollution and noise pollution. Ownership of the rights would be shared between the Council 

and the developer. 

6.2.6 Members questioned why consultation with Lincolnshire County Council had not been 

undertaken at this stage and that the sample size of 15 to 20 lamps was insufficient for 

meaningful data analysis. Funding concerns were also raised as well as security measures 

to protect collected data. Members were assured of Digital Catapult’s experience in working 

with local authorities. It was anticipated that the 3-month testing of any prototype device 

would begin in approximately 7 months. It was expected that data would be available very 

quickly for analysis. 

6.2.7 The Advertising and sponsorship initiative, which was already an existing venture with 

Publitas, had completed an audit of advertising income received by the Council and the 

potential extent of the opportunity within the local market. Additional funding was requested 

due to the conclusions of the audit which had highlighted opportunities to make better use 

of the Council’s assets to generate additional advertising income. 

6.2.8 Members questioned the validity of Publitas LLP as it was no longer trading in that name 

and raised concerns over the level of due diligence when appointing the company. Some 

concern was expressed on whether Publitas was sufficiently resourced to fulfil the contract.  

6.3 Reassurance was sought by the Committee that prior to any space being sold, there would 

be consultation with the relevant parish or town council. The Committee recommended that 

applications for funding from the Invest to Save Reserve should include as much information 

as possible. The Committee concluded at their meeting held on 14 June 2019 that future 

reports needed to be more informative when requesting funding from the Invest to Save 

Reserve and should include business cases.  

6.3.1 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee reported back to Members on 16 July 

2019 with their findings after a review of the process for the awarding of the contract of the 

advertising and sponsorship initiative. The process of the review was explained to Members 

with the conclusion that a logical process had been followed in awarding the contract and 

that Publitas had a lot of experience producing good results for other local authorities with 

other concerns expressed by Members being satisfied.  

6.4 2018/19 Outturn 

6.4.1 The Committee received a report at its meeting held on 16 July 2019 setting out the budget 

outturn position at the end of 2018/19. In summary the Cabinet Member for Finance 

informed Members that the total budget had increased to £19.502m. This figure included 

benefits from the 100% business rate pilot scheme with Housing Revenue Account surplus 

transferred to reserves to provide additional internal funding for the HRA Capital 

Programme. Members were also provided with an updated position on the Capital 

Programme and the Local Priorities Reserve, which was funded by the New Homes Bonus, 

and a new crowd funding reserve that had recently been created. 

6.4.2 Members raised several questions and identified a potential ongoing issue with the spending 

of disabled facilities grant provision. On 5 September 2019 Members were advised by The 

22



 

15 

Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing that the Council had spent a 

significant figure on disabled adaptations on its housing stock. This could not be included in 

the expenditure figure, as Disabled Facilities Grants were not available for the Council to 

use on its own properties. Funding was distributed via Lincolnshire County Council. 

6.4.3 On 19 November 2019 the Committee requested the final account of the Bourne CiCLE 

festival. It was confirmed that this information would be available at a workshop open to all 

Councillors organised by the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee.  

6.4.4 The workshop relating to the new Performance Framework had been held on 7 October 

2019. The feedback received from Councillors would be taken into consideration when 

developing the performance dashboards that the Committee had requested.  

6.5 Performance Reporting 

6.5.1 On 16 July 2019 the Committee was presented for consideration a report by the Deputy 

Leader of the Council, setting out performance information for quarters 3 and 4 of 2018/19. 

Members were advised that in both quarters 3 and 4 the number of apprenticeships was 

slightly below target; a plan had been put in place to help the Council achieve this target. At 

the end of quarter 4 rent collection from council homes was also slightly below target.  

6.5.2 Changes to the collection and reporting of performance data was explained to the 
Committee. In response to the Members request for public access, they were advised that 
this was primarily an internal resource but useful information would be made available to 
members of the public through dashboard information snapshots. It was anticipated that the 
Council would not be in a position to publish performance data for the public to view until 
the end of the year. Members were assured by the level of security measures in place to 
protect the Council’s data. 

6.5.3 A further report was presented to the Committee on 5 September 2019 following questions 
raised by Members with reference to the performance report for quarters 3 and 4 of 2018/19. 
The report also included an update on the progress of the Microsoft Power BI development 
as a new approach to performance reporting. Members were provided an update on areas 
that had not achieved their target at the end of quarter 1. 

6.5.4 The roll out of Universal credit had impacted on rent collection in the quarter 1 period 
impounded by unrecoverable debts relating to deceased tenants and evictions though this 
did not represent a significant concern at this stage.  Apprenticeship numbers and waste, 
recycling and composting were also areas of concern. The Committee recommended that 
the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the percentage of 
household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting, including the level of 
contamination of silver bins to support the work being undertaken by Lincolnshire County 
Council and within the Council’s own service area for Waste and Recycling. 

6.5.5 Members also heard of those areas that were meeting or exceeding their targets at the end 
of the first quarter with clean streets performing highly. 

6.5.6 A further presentation to Members followed, detailing the new Performance Reporting 
Framework using Microsoft Power BI software that was intended to provide a greater level 
of insight and detail than current information allowed. Members asked questions, provided 
recommendations and concluded that a workshop would be needed to clarify which 
performance indicators would provide most value to each of the Committees. 

23



 

16 

6.6 Quarter 2 Performance 

6.6.1 The Committee heard from the Strategic Director, Transformation and Change at their 
meeting on 19 November 2019 that most of the key performance indicators were meeting 
targets, with three achieving marginally below their targets for quarter 2 of 2019/20.  

6.6.2 Members were informed that an increase in Universal Credit claims had impacted on the 
collection of Council Tax in the District, an explanation was received on how this was 
assessed and processed. An increased number of rate payers had opted to pay over twelve 
months for Non-domestic Rates which had caused a red status indicator for the end of 
quarter 2. A reduction of households on the top four priority bands of the Housing Register 
was queried by Members which was explained as fluctuation caused by allocation of a 
property or a change of circumstance.  

6.6.3 Measures to encourage new business into Grantham town centre was to be included in the 
Committee’s future work programme.  

6.7 Quarter 3 Performance 

6.7.1 At its meeting held on 4 February 2020 the Committee received a performance report for 

quarter 3 of 2019/20. Members were provided with an update of the performance dashboard 

progression with seven having been produced. A number of action points were requested 

to feed into the continued development of the performance dashboards moving forward.  

6.7.2 Further work would be undertaken before live performance dashboards were available for 

public view. 

6.8 Funding Update 

6.8.1 The Committee meeting held on 16 July 2019 received an overview of the national funding 
context as a backdrop to its financial review and budgeting work, highlighting the challenges 
that the Council would face in the short to medium term. The overall reduction in funding 
was reported as being in real terms just under 29%.  

6.8.2 Members heard of the loss of the revenue support grant, fixed level for council tax increase 
and the review by the Government on business rates as well as a fair funding review. Details 
of the baseline level (the amount each council needed to deliver core services) were also 
explained. The Committee expressed concerns over the possible financial impact to the 
Council from the fair funding review. years. 

6.9 Contract Tendering Process Review 

6.9.1 On 16 July 2019 Members considered the growing commercial income opportunities as a 

Council. Comparisons on how the Council pursued commercial opportunities were 

considered. The Committee was warned about the possible impact of CIPFA adjusting the 

prudential code which might prevent a council from developing commercial income.  

24



 

17 

6.10 Finance Update Report – 2019/20 Quarter 1  

On 5 September 2019 Members considered a report outlining the Council’s forecast 

2019/20 financial position as at the end of quarter 1. At the end of quarter 1, the Revenue 

budget stood at £19.796m and a forecast overspend of £461k. One of the most significant 

variances to the Revenue Budget General Fund was the forecast underachievement of the 

workforce efficiency target (vacancy factor).  

6.10.1 Members heard that a small proportion of the budgeted savings and income generation 

were on target to be achieved. Variances to the Housing Revenue Account, General Fund 

Programme and HRA Capital Programme budgets were also highlighted. It was anticipated 

that a clearer understanding of the Council’s financial position in relation to budgets would 

be known at the end of quarter 2. 

6.10.2 In response to Members’ questions it was felt that the budget variance in the Housing 

Revenue Account budget could be as a result of dwelling rents following an increase in the 

number of right to buys over the 2018/19 period impacting on rent collection. The income 

from carparking would also be considered.  

6.11 Finance Update Report – 2019/20 Quarter 2  

6.11.1 The Committee received a presentation on 19 November 2019 from the Cabinet Member 

for Finance and Resources outlining the Council’s forecast financial position as at the end 

of quarter 2 of 2019/20. The report provided information regarding the current 2019/20 

budget and the forecast variances for the Revenue Budget General Fund, the Housing 

Revenue Account, the General Fund Capital Programme and the HRA Capital Programme.  

6.11.2 Members discussed a number of points from the current budget status. They requested an 

explanation of the shortfall in corporate procurement savings and were informed that the 

anticipated savings had been impacted by a new Procurement Officer whose role had been 

to review current arrangements and contracts and putting into place updated procurement 

processes. It was noted that achieving further procurement savings would be a gradual 

process.    

6.11.3 Members also sought assurances that arrangements were being put into place to rectify the 

areas not meeting their budgets, and lessons being learnt. It was explained that although 

there were significant variances, the Council was on track to meet the majority of the 

budgetary targets. The Committee received assurance that the 2020/21 budget proposals 

would be undertaken with a more realistic approach and show the final budgets aligning 

more closely with the reality of which savings and targets could be achieved in the next 

financial year. Staffing arrangements were raised by Members who were informed of a 

review of the pay structure due to be completed in December 2019. 

6.11.4 The Committee supported the principle of incorporating more realistic targets and savings 

in the 2020/21 budget setting process though requested more in-depth explanation of unmet 

targets at the end of quarter 3. 

6.12 Finance Update Report – 2019/20 Quarter 3  

6.12.1 On 4 February 2020 the Committee received a report providing an update on the forecast 

2019/20 outturn positions for Revenue, Savings and Income Generation and Capital. The 

quarter 3 figure forecast a positive reduction in the outturn position. Significant variances in 

25



 

18 

the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account budgets and their corresponding Capital 

Programmes were brought to the Committee’s attention.  

6.12.2 Members expressed concern that it had not been anticipated during the 2019/20 budget 

setting process that the budgeted savings could not be achieved. Members sought 

reassurance that the 2020/21 budgeted savings were realistic and asked what lessons had 

been learned. Assurance was provided that significant work had been undertaken 

throughout the 2020/21 budget setting process to ensure that targets were realistic and 

achievable. Adherence to the final budget was stressed.  

6.12.3 The Committee raised the significant variances in relation to the transformation and 

procurement budgeted savings that were being addressed through the appointment of a 

Procurement Officer in September 2019. The General Fund Capital Budget was also 

indicating significant variances in relation to the commercial investment and regeneration 

scheme which was explained as having been impacted by the leisure centre business cases 

not being completed. 

6.12.4 Members also received a further update on the budgeted transformation savings for the 

automation project and questioned why these had not been met. The Chair requested a 

review to establish how effectively budget profiling was being managed by Service 

Managers.  

6.12.5 Officers were thanked by the Committee for their hard work to reduce the variance in the 

forecast position of the budget from the previous meeting. Members requested the use of 

plain English (where possible) in future finance update reports to enable a clearer 

understanding of the Council’s budget position. 

6.13 Local Plan – Proposed Main Modifications 

6.13.1 Members were provided with an update on 5 September 2019 on the development of the 

Local Plan to date, including a general outline of the proposed Main Modifications of the 

report. The Main Modifications had been recommended in consultation by the independent 

Inspector. This was a requirement for the Local Plan to be assessed as sound by the 

Inspector and then adopted by the Council.  

6.13.2 Members had discussed areas of concerns, particularly over future development numbers 

and content, they were anxious over a conflict with the wellbeing of residents (such as 

reduction in green spaces and increase in traffic) within the need for increased growth. The 

Committee’s comments were circulated for reference before they were presented to the 

Cabinet for consideration. 

6.14 Deepings Special Expense Area 

6.14.1 On 5 September 2019 Members considered the report on the review of the Deepings 

Special Expense Area (SEA) that were to be considered as part of the budget proposals for 

2020/21. Members were provided with an explanation of the levy to avoid double taxation 

and were informed that the only cost currently included in the SEA was the grounds 

maintenance for the Linchfield Road playing field.  

6.14.2 Members debated whether the SEA was an effective means of collecting the tax levy for the 

relevant areas, its use, availability and nearby amenities.  

26



 

19 

6.14.3 The Committee requested further information detailing the facilities provided by each of the 

Special Expense Areas, the Cabinet Member for Finance was to consult with Parish 

Councillors in the Deepings area as well as the Finance team, to gather further information. 

6.15 Fees and Charges - Charging Policy 

6.15.1 The Committee was presented with a report on the Council’s Charging Policy on 

19 November 2019 with key principles for consideration during the fees and charges 

process. Along with Council Tax and Non-domestic rates revenue, fees and charges were 

an important element in securing Council funding as Government funding continued to 

decrease, and the Council was required to become increasingly self-sustained. Members 

heard of the importance of charging keeping pace with market trends and the demands with 

this policy to meet the need for clear visibility and understanding for future annual budget 

cycles.  

6.15.2 Members were reassured that there was scope within the policy for subsidised services to 

be provided as appropriate, with each case considered in its own merit in order for the 

Council to continue to provide a financially viable service whilst also achieving its Strategic 

Objectives. The policy was being introduced now to be a key part of the Council’s funding 

mechanism moving forward.  

6.15.3 The Committee recommended that the Charging Policy be presented to Cabinet for 

consideration, that evidence supporting the 30% overhead rate figure be provided to the 

Committee, and that consideration be made on whether the policy could be expanded upon 

to provide specific guidance and that further information be provided outlining which 

services were currently subsidised. 

6.16 Future Leisure Management Options 

6.16.1 An additional Committee Meeting had been organised for 27 November 2019 to consider 

the report ‘Enhancing Leisure Opportunities for Everyone’. The Committee was asked to 

consider short-term arrangements for the management of leisure services in advance of a 

long-term plan to procure a new contract arrangement guided by a Procurement Strategy.  

6.16.2 Members were informed that the current contract with 1life would expire in January 2021. 

Members discussed advantages of recommending the option to extend this contract and 

stressed the importance of ensuring that an adequate level of service continue, should the 

recommendation be approved. An extension to the contract with 1life would enable sufficient 

time for feasibility work to be undertaken and development of a Procurement Strategy.  

6.16.3 Grantham Meres Leisure Centre - The Committee received assurance that all Grantham 

Councillors would be consulted in regard to the Grantham Meres Leisure Centre. Members 

were assured that all options within the report were being considered and any decisions 

made would be subject to consultation and a business case to ensure financial viability.  

6.16.4 Deepings Leisure Centre – Members felt there was a lack of clarity as to ownership of the 

facility and considered the facilities provided to be inadequate. In developing the new centre 

existing arrangements would cease. Local Councillors would be consulted during decision 

making processes for the future of the Deepings Leisure Centre.  

6.16.5 Long-term funding concerns were observed by Members who had noted that the report 

referred to the challenges of the medium-term financial outlook. Officers confirmed that a 

27



 

20 

scheme of borrowing was being investigated along with the potential for the Council to 

generate income from any long-term management option.  

6.16.6 The Committee recommended approval by Cabinet to an extension to the Council’s current 

leisure management contract arrangement for a term of 15 months with no reduction in the 

service level provided, with the extension to end on 3 April 2022. It also recommended that 

Cabinet approve the proposal to produce a new contract arrangement and that a 

Procurement Strategy, to determine the optimum length of contract and ideal route to 

market, should be developed. 

6.17 ICT Infrastructure Transformation 

6.17.1 On 4 February 2020 the Committee was provided with a report following a review of the 
server and storage infrastructure that supported all of the Council’s software. Weaknesses 
had been identified with regards to the age and reliability of the current provision. Members 
heard of the need of investment to ensure that the ICT infrastructure could efficiently support 
requirements as service needs changed over time. A project was currently underway to 
ensure that the existing ICT infrastructure was compliant with standards by the end of the 
2019/20 period.  

6.17.2 The Committee questioned the financial implications of these works and were assured that 
the project had been funded through the ICT reserve. Members were also reassured that 
works were on schedule. Staffing levels within the ICT department were under constant 
review. The positive progress of the ICT infrastructure works was noted by the Committee 
who also thanked Officers on the progress of the project. A broader update, including 
financial information, on Transformation was recommended to be considered at a future 
meeting of the Committee. 

6.18 Asset Management Strategy  

6.18.1 A report on the Asset Management Strategy which linked to the Corporate Strategy and set 

out a clear vision for the Council’s General Fund assets was presented to the Committee 

on 4 February 2020.  The Strategy was intended to be a high-level guidance document, and 

as such, did not include an inventory of the Council’s assets and their associated 

management plans.  

6.19 Members sought explanation as to how decisions were reached regarding the disposal of 

assets and how these decisions were authorised and were reassured that any decisions 

regarding the disposal of assets were carefully aligned with the Asset Management Strategy 

and would follow the usual governance processes for decision making, as set out in the 

Council’s Constitution. The Corporate Strategy was confirmed as the overarching document 

which identified the Council’s key themes and priorities.  

6.20 Officers were requested by the Committee to consider including an explanation detailing 

how strategies support and relate to the Council’s Corporate Strategy when reviewing 

existing and developing new strategies moving forward. The Committee concluded that the 

draft Asset Management Strategy had been considered sufficiently and welcomed the 

principle of the Strategy. 

7. Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Chairman: Councillor Ray Wootten 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Sarah Trotter 

28



 

21 

During the 2019/20 municipal year, the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee met on five occasions. Two meetings scheduled for 19 March 2020 and 23 April 

2020 were cancelled due to COVID-19. A summary of the items considered by the 

committee is set out below.  

7.1 Consideration of the Remit and Work Programme of the Rural and Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

7.1.1 The Committee was presented with a list that showed the remit of the Cabinet Member for 

Communities, Health and Wellbeing and the Cabinet Member for Housing on 13 June 2019.   

7.1.2 Members requested a paper on turnaround of properties for a future meeting of the 

Committee; the reduction in Post Offices in rural areas as well as the lack of cashpoints and 

bus routes and housing management. The Chairman and the Assistant Chief Executive, 

Housing Delivery provided a draft work programme for Members on 12 September 2019. 

7.2 Crowdfunding 

7.2.1 On 13 June 2019 the Deputy Leader of the Council gave a report on Crowdfunding, which 

was aimed primarily at small business start-ups rather than civic initiatives however there 

was now an opportunity to utilise this funding approach for community ventures. This had 

been very successful in other urban areas.  

7.2.2 The Committee was told that the Crowd Funding was a different initiative to that currently 

administered by Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary Service (CVS) but would 

complement the Community Fund.  It was noted that a review of the Community Fund should 

be included as a future work programme item for the Committee.  

7.2.3 Members received an operational explanation of the online platform called Spacehive that 

provided Crowd Funding services to civic and community initiatives. The Committee was 

requested to recommend to the Governance and Audit Committee to make an allocation of 

£30k from year end balances to fund the Spacehive platform and that a further allocation of 

£70k be made from year end balances to contribute towards community interest ventures 

through the Spacehive platform.  Clarity on the legalities would be looked at before any 

contract was entered into. 

7.2.4 Success rates were then discussed, and it was confirmed that Spacehive did have a proven 

track record working with Local Authorities. Further discussion followed in relation to 

examples of initiatives, the contract timeframe and targeting. It was stressed that if Members 

decided to go down the route of Spacehive then the review would look at the types of 

initiatives put forward for funding. The Committee recommended approval of the report. 

7.3 Update from cabinet 

7.3.1 The Committee heard on 12 September 2019 from The Cabinet Member for Communities, 

Health and Wellbeing details of a meeting with the Community Engagement and Policy 

Development Officer to discuss social cohesion across the spectrum and this included 

loneliness. There was no budget for this issue, so he was proposing to ask for a small 

amount of money to be able to contact and interact with the many communities within the 

district.  

29



 

22 

7.3.2 The Cabinet Member for Housing gave a brief update to the Committee. He provided an 

update on the continued improvements that were happening within the housing service and 

the funding in relation to Disabled Facilities Grants.     

7.4 Update on condensate pipes 

7.4.1 On Thursday 12 September 2019 The Assistant Director Housing informed the Committee 

that the serve weather in early 2018 had resulted in the failure of 215 gas boilers in Council 

homes due to condensate pipes freezing. The frozen pipes had all been dealt with within 

three days. Several affected properties had been inspected by a technical advisor to the 

manufacturer who confirmed that the installations met the design requirements of the 

manufacturer but due to the excessively low temperatures additional measures could be 

taken to reduce the risk of further failures. An inspection of the 215 properties had taken 

place, with work to modify and safeguard against condensate pipes freezing completed in 

145 of them. Work also needed to be completed on a further 115 properties. Mitigation 

measures recommended by the supplier and design changes on future new installations 

had been adopted. Further inspections of external condensate pipes were to be undertaken 

as part of the annual gas servicing and testing programme by the Liberty Group, on other 

Council owned properties. 

7.4.2 Members discussed access concerns to properties as well as monitoring and quality of 

works by the Liberty Group. A further update provided to the Committee on 16 January 2020 

explained that 53 properties were outstanding for inspection however appointments had 

been rearranged. An update received on 20 February 2020 informed the Committee that 

out of the remaining 37 properties, 14 appointments had been arranged. A protocol was 

also being put together in relation to the use of backup heating systems and hot water. 

7.5 Modernising Housing Services 

7.5.1 The Committee was presented with a report by The Assistant Director Housing on 

12 September 2019 with a further report on voids presented at the next meeting of the 

Committee. Members were briefed on the role and focus of Housing Services that covered 

existing tenants and prospective tenants as well as tenancy management, housing 

allocations and options, homelessness and temporary accommodation. Due to many 

policies and practices having become outdated and inefficient a comprehensive review and 

restructure of the Housing service had begun in January 2019. 

7.5.2 The aims of the review and restructure were explained to Members who were informed that 

the review should be completed within four to five months with consultations having taken 

place with staff and tenants.  

7.6 Equalities Annual Position Statement 

7.6.1 The Committee received a presentation on 12 September 2019 of a report to deal with the 

Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2019 which the Council had a duty to 

produce under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. The three aims of the general Equality 

Duty were explained to the Committee. The Committee was also advised about the 

information the Council had to publish showing compliance with the Equality Duty and 

demonstrating that the Council had due regard to those requirements in relation to both the 

workforce and the people who the Council served.  

30



 

23 

7.6.2 Members requested a link be provided to the document for all Members. The Committee 

heard of the work of the Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer, including 

translation of Council documentation into a different language or for the visually impaired.  

7.6.3 The Cabinet Member confirmed his intention to request a small budget for community group 

work that could be used across the district to help get more interaction between communities 

and address areas such as loneliness. This small budget was confirmed on 16 January 

2020.  

7.6.4 The Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement was approved by the Committee. 

7.7 Turnaround on Void Properties 

7.7.1 Members received a presentation on 21 November 2019 from the Head of Repairs and 

Improvements over the turnaround on void properties following a request by the Committee 

at its previous meeting.  A review on voids had been undertaken as the turnaround time 

impacted on rental income with the main issues surrounding voids identified as excessive 

turnaround times with reoccurring bottlenecks and low take up of stock in areas with limited 

sustainability. Members were provided details of the number of voids and the level of rental 

loss as well as possible cause for the current void turnaround time which could be the void 

process itself, the method of prioritising voids and the condition of the housing stock. 

7.7.2 Progress work and actions were outlined to the Committee that included training to enable 

cross team working and decision making, a new void re-let standard, Choice Based Lettings 

and hard to let properties would have robust assessments carried out to see whether they 

were unsustainable. A new housing system (Northgate Housing System) would also be 

implemented which would improve linkage between assets and housing management. 

Going forward it was hoped that properties would be advertised on a portal to which all 

tenants would have access via a password. By undertaking these measures, a reduction in 

turnaround for void properties was anticipated.  

7.7.3 Members raised concerns and questions over property conditions, reasons for refusal, 

charging and future improvements.  

7.8 Tenancy Agreement 

7.8.1 The report on the proposed Tenancy Agreement for tenants was presented to the 

Committee on 21 November 2019. The Council’s current Tenancy Agreements format had 

been in place for 17 years with statutory changes and good practice being made over time. 

The current documents no longer reflected the current needs of the housing services or the 

context in which social housing operated.  

7.8.2 Joint tenancies had been clarified and the responsibilities of joint tenants with issues such 

as rent payments. Other changes included the tightening of requirements for allowing 

access to properties, including carrying out gas servicing or health and safety checks.  

Damage and improvements to the property were clarified with great emphasis over the 

tenants’ responsibilities regarding minor repairs. More flexible rules around conditions in 

relation to animals and pets were provided.  

7.8.3 Members raised a number of points and questions to the report and while proposing the 

document for adoption by the Cabinet, the Committee requested further clarification was 

provided on three areas within the document and that the Committee be sent the number, 

types and causes of evictions that had taken place. The Committee agreed this proposal. 

31



 

24 

 

7.9 Healthy Conversation Consultation 

7.9.1 The Committee welcomed the Chief Officer Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Groups to 

their meeting held on 16 January 2020 to introduce the Healthy Conversation item which 

looked at health throughout the district and Lincolnshire.  

7.9.2 He highlighted current key issues nationally that included recruitment and ongoing financial 

challenges with specific issues around the size of areas covered in Lincolnshire as well as 

population dispersal and significant areas of depravation. The Chief Officer covered several 

areas including: 

• The publication of a long-term plan for Lincolnshire outlining collaborative work with 

partners was anticipated and would be consistent with the national plan. 

• Details of The Healthy Conversation that took place during 2019. 

• Options relating to Grantham Hospital. 

• Further use of digital technology to improve outcomes. 

• The findings from the Healthy Conversation would be available in a public document 

on completion. 

7.10 Housing Strategy refresh 

7.10.1 On 16 January 2020 the Committee was presented with a report that dealt with the refresh 

of the Housing Strategy adopted in April 2018 following a midterm review of the Strategy 

that had identified areas which needed to be changed although the key themes were still 

relevant and up to date. Members were provided a briefing of those areas needing updating: 

• Supporting Housing Independence for older people and other vulnerable groups. 

• Provide the conditions for Tenant Involvement. 

• Improve Housing Services and Options. 

• Regenerate Priority Neighbourhoods.  

• Energy Efficiency – Tackling Fuel Poverty/Climate Change in new developments and 

current Housing.  

7.10.2 Another area that had been enhanced in the Strategy was the development of new housing 

across all tenures to prioritise a balanced housing market as there was a clear housing 

shortage and need. Members heard that the Strategy was an ongoing document and part 

of a toolkit used in housing delivery. The Cabinet Member for Communities and HR reported 

that his portfolio would cover both Planning and Housing.  

7.10.3 Members received clarification over differences between the former and proposed Strategy 

documents. They also proposed amendments to the new Strategy. The Committee agreed 

and recommended the Strategy to Cabinet subjected to the amendments highlighted during 

the Committee. 

 

32



 

25 

7.11 Customer Experience Strategy 

7.11.1 At its meeting held on 16 January 2020, the Committee considered proposals to modernise 

and make changes to ensure that the customer service delivery was fit for purpose. The 

Strategic Director, Transformation and Change provided an overview of how customer 

access had changed significantly over the last few years, explaining that customers were 

increasingly using mobile phones to access services. A modern service was needed, 

offering flexible customer experience with choice and delivery which was convenient to all 

customers, businesses and visitors.  

7.11.2 The Customer Experience Strategy was split into four key themes:   

Theme one  The Operating Model which covered accessibility and sustainability.   

Theme two  Technology, integration of operating systems to unify services.   

Theme three  Customer Ethos.   

Theme four The measurement and management of the customers voice and  

using information to continue to modernise customers experience. 

7.11.3 In response to concerns raised by Members, the Cabinet Member indicated that there would 

always be a level of face to face interaction within the service. 

7.11.4 The Committee noted the development and progress to the Customer Experience Strategy, 

comments by Members and the recommendation to Cabinet that the Strategy be adopted. 

7.12 Debt Collection – Stop the Knock 

7.12.1 On 16 January 2019 the Committee received a presentation on the Stop the Knock with a 

briefing given on the current practices of the Council with respect to the use of civil 

enforcement agents and to inform the scope of any further work to be commissioned by the 

overview and scrutiny committee if deemed necessary. Members were provided with the 

background of the initiative by the Money Advice Trust charity with a recommended six steps 

for lower tier authorities to implement in order to improve debt collection practices. These 

were outlined to the Committee and followed by a discussion over each element. 

7.12.2 Following a lengthy debate the Committee agreed that of the six initiatives before Members 

the Committee proposed, that Cabinet made a clear public commitment to reduce the 

Council’s use of bailiffs over time, that a formal policy covering residents in vulnerable 

circumstances was put in place and that a local Council Tax Protocol be developed with 

other local agencies such as Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) and adopted.  

7.12.3 On 20 February 2020 the Committee was asked to approve a way forward to develop the 

policy/protocol looking at best practice policies and agree a format to work towards 

recommendations being put before the Cabinet at its meeting scheduled for April.   

7.12.4 The Chairman stated that following a very long discussion at the last meeting of the 

Committee, the recommendations put forward had been unanimously supported.  He was 

happy to recommend that Officers continue to put together a policy/protocol based on work 

that was currently undertaken and the comments made at the last meeting of the Committee. 

It was agreed by the Committee that Officers were requested to develop an appropriate 

written policy/protocol on debt collection taking account of the comments made at the 

January meeting of the Committee. The final policy/protocol would then be presented to 

Cabinet in April 2020 and once adopted a six-month review would be undertaken by the 

Committee.  

33



 

26 

7.13 Safeguarding Policy 

7.13.1 At its meeting held on 20 February 2020 the Committee was introduced to the Safeguarding 

Policy by Cabinet Member for Communities, which concerned the development of a joint 

Safeguarding Policy that had been designed to be relevant to all seven district councils 

across Lincolnshire.  The policy included a new requirement for Members to complete an e-

learning module relating to Safeguarding within their first year in office with extra modules 

to be completed during their term of office.  

7.13.2 The policy details were explained to Committee Members as well as outlining the 

safeguarding responsibilities of local authorities. The policy covered a three-year period 

between 2020-2023 and would be reviewed on a three-yearly basis unless legislation or 

statutory guidance required the policy to be updated in the interim. Members were directed 

by the Chairman that they needed to be aware of the policy in their role as elected Members, 

but stressed that they were not safeguarding officers. They needed to know who the front-

line officers were and what they needed to do if they found a safeguarding issue. 

7.13.3 A brief overview was provided of each chapter on which Members were given the 

opportunity to comment. It was stated that the Safeguarding Policy complemented the 

Homelessness Policy; The Homelessness Strategy was due to be reviewed by the 

Committee at its next meeting and this included the Council’s homelessness prevention 

duty. All Members of the Council received the safeguarding credit cards following the 

meeting. 

7.13.4 The Committee was asked by the Cabinet Member for Communities to consider adopting 

the policy before them together with the requirement for Members to undertake the e-

learning module in their first year of office which was agreed. 

7.14 Tenancy Strategy 

7.14.1 The Tenancy Strategy was introduced to the Committee on 20 February 2020 by the Cabinet 

Member for Housing and Planning who explained its aim to make the best use of stock 

provision to meet the housing needs of communities and set clear guidance to other 

registered providers so that all housing in the district was used to its best ability.  The 

Strategy was to guide social landlords using best practice.  Private registered providers were 

required to publish their own tenancy policies but needed to take account of the Local 

Authority’s Tenancy Strategy.  

7.14.2 Details of the Strategy were provided to Members by the Interim Strategic Director. A 

consultation had taken place with all 25 private registered providers of social housing across 

South Kesteven with overall supportive responses for fixed term tenancies.   

7.14.3 Members discussed the Strategy raising comments and questions. Updates in relation to 
the impact of changes made to the Strategy were discussed and Members agreed to receive 
any updates by e-mail. The Committee agreed to recommend to Cabinet that it approved 
the amendment to the Tenancy Strategy, the rewording of 4.1 and reduction of acronyms, 
with the Committee receiving annual updates on impacts of changes to the Strategy. 

 
 

34



 

 

 

Council  

26 November 2020 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

Housing Compliance Audit 2020 including Riverside 
Inquiry and Housing Development Update  

To provide Members with an update and information regarding the Housing Compliance Audit and 
the Riverside Independent Inquiry 2020.  

 

Report Author 

Debbie Roberts, Corporate Project Officer 

Tel:  01476 406080 

Email:  Debbie.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Regulatory All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director Housing 17 November 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  18 November 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

18 November 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To review the Housing Compliance Audit and improvement plan to meet the 
recommendations indicated within the Housing Audit plan and agree that the Rural 
and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive quarterly updates on 
the progress being made within the work programme.  

2. To approve the revised 3 year rolling HRA New Build Housing Investment 
programme and support the principle that the housing service should focus on 
compliance priorities, utilising where necessary funds released through 
rationalising the HRA New Build Housing Investment programme proposals.    

35

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

3. That Officers provide necessary updates to Members regarding key performance 
and delivery of programmes to ensure capital investment and compliance 
objectives are achieved. 

4. To note that the Council has reported itself to the Social Housing Regulator and is 
jointly working with the Regulator towards compliance as a matter of priority.  

5. That the Council notes the recommendations contained in the attached 
Independent Consultants Report, and requests that officers be required to update 
the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on progress to 
achieve full implementation of the recommendations on a quarterly basis. 

6. The Council notes that the HSE report dealing with potential breaches relating to 
the management of asbestos during the carrying out of the Riverside hot water and 
heating repairs will be submitted to the Rural and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee once received. 

36



 

 
 

1 Background to the Housing Compliance Audit Report 

1.1 A review of Housing Compliance - Gas, Electrical, Legionella, Asbestos and Fire Safety 

was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council, although part of the approved internal 

audit periodic plan for 2020/21 this audit was brough forward. This Housing Compliance 

Audit report is appended to the report as Appendix 1.  

1.2 In 2019 the Council’s Housing Development and Improvement department and the 

Repairs department, were combined to form the Improvement and Repairs Team. This 

team was led by the Head of Improvements and Repairs. This position at the time of the 

audit was vacant. Since August 2020 the Housing Service is currently led by the Interim 

Assistant Director – Housing.  

1.3 The Council’s housing compliance safety checks are managed by the Improvement and 

Repairs Team. The Improvements Team is led by the Improvements Manager and the 

Repairs Team is led by the Repairs Manager.  

1.4 Fire safety, legionella, asbestos and gas safety are managed by the Improvement Team 

and the checks/servicing is undertaken by Council appointed contractors. The electrical 

safety checks are the responsibility of the Repairs Team.   

1.5 A stock condition database and the asbestos register are maintained on the APEX 

system. The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, electrical and fire safety checks/ 

servicing programmes are managed and maintained on a series of excel spreadsheets. 

1.6 This review has confirmed that the Council does not have adequate controls for housing 

compliance - gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety in place. The auditors 

identified gaps in the control framework and weaknesses in adherence to the controls for 

managing housing compliance safety checks.  

1.7 The audit concluded that there are seven high, eight medium and one low priority 

management actions.  

2 The key findings from the Housing Compliance report were: 

2.1 The following controls are operating effectively in practice: 

2.2 The supply and provision of high visibility jackets for Fire Wardens are the responsibility of 

Corporate Operations to co-ordinate centrally. Personal protective equipment stocks are 

not maintained and are ordered on an individual basis; 

2.3 The objective of the Housing Asset Management Strategy is to guide the future shape and 

direction of the Council’s housing assets to ensure they meet corporate objectives and 

customer expectations and sets out the frequency of housing compliance safety checks; 

2.4 Right to Buy applications and all relevant works carried out on void properties are notified 

to the Stock Database Officer to update the stock condition database. The Stock 

Database Officer then notifies all the relevant staff in the Improvement and Repairs Team; 

and 

2.5 The gas programme is managed by the gas contractor although the gas safety 

programme is maintained by the Council on a spreadsheet and includes the last safety 

check and the next safety check due date. 

 

 

37



 

 
 

3 The audit identified the following findings where management actions 

were agreed: 

3.1 For solid fuel, fire safety and legionella, the programme is held on a spreadsheet. The 

spreadsheets do not include key information like the last safety check, next safety checks 

and any notes relating to remedial actions or access to the property; (High) 

3.2 For electrical testing, it was noted a testing programme for 2020 has not been 

implemented. The housing management system and the stock condition database is not 

reconciled to the housing compliance safety checks/servicing programmes to ensure that 

every property is accounted for; (High) 

3.3 For sheltered accommodation/communal areas, fire alarm testing, extinguisher checks 

and  emergency lighting checks are undertaken. On matching the fire alarm testing, 

extinguisher checks and emergency lighting checks programmes, eight sheltered 

accommodations/communal areas were identified where one or more of these checks was 

not being undertaken; (High) 

3.4 For gas, electrical, fire safety and legionella a log of remedial actions (further 

actions/improvements required) is not maintained and testing at this visit has highlighted 

that the further actions/improvements required are not always followed up, an audit trail is 

not always maintained of actions taken if any and monitoring is not undertaken to ensure 

that the remedial actions identified have been actioned; (High) 

3.5 Certificates/servicing records for the housing compliance safety checks undertaken are 

not maintained in a central location. For example, the electrical certificates may be 

retained by Repairs or by the Improvement Team within their project files. For a sample of 

20, in six cases the electrical certificates were not provided to us and in 12 cases the 

electrical certificates for works carried out at the property were provided instead of the 

actual electrical testing certificates; (High)  

3.6 An external contractor undertook the fire risk assessments in 2017. Currently there are no 

arrangements in place (a contract with a fire safety contractor is not in place for this 

service). The previous management action identified, in our February 2019 audit report, 

the need for full survey and risk assessments of the fire integrity of sheltered 

accommodation to be undertaken yet in this audit it has not been undertaken. Council 

policy requires fire risk assessments to be reviewed annually, however we noted that the 

fire risk assessments have not been subject to this annual review in 2020; (High) 

3.7 Senior Management and the Council are not provided with regular reports (and core KPI 

data) on the performance of housing compliance safety checks; (High) 

3.8 An up to date Housing Asset Management Strategy is not in place. The last Asset 

Management Strategy was prepared and approved in 2013 and covered the five year 

period between 2013 and 2018; (Medium) 

3.9 Up to date housing compliance safety checks policies and procedures are not in place; 

(Medium) 

3.10 Training/refresher training records for the Improvement Team was not maintained up to 

date at the time of the audit; fire awareness training was started by three members of staff 

in July 2019, February 2020 and July 2020 however this has not been completed; 

monitoring of training is not undertaken to ensure the training matrix/training records is 

maintained up to date; (Medium) 

38



 

 
 

3.11 Fire safety testing identified that for a sample of five blocks: in 16 cases the fire alarm 

testing was undertaken between four and 14 days after the last test and in two cases the 

fire alarm servicing was undertaken at every three months instead of every six months. 

For fire alarm servicing, fire extinguisher servicing and emergency lighting testing the 

spreadsheets do not always include the date of the previous visit and test; (Medium) 

3.12 For a sample of 20 properties, testing of solid fuel checks identified that in one case 

access to the property has not been gained since 2018 and in two cases was not gained 

in 2019. For the two properties with oil fuel the contractor highlighted that the tanks were 

too close to  the fence/house. An escalation process is not in place and it could not be 

established if any review/action was undertaken; (Medium) 

3.13 Internal quality assurance audits are not undertaken on housing compliance safety 

checks/servicing to assure the works undertaken by the operatives/contractors; (Medium) 

3.14 A review of the Asbestos Register identified 1,675 property records where the records are 

documented as active however no further details are recorded for the properties; 

(Medium) 

3.15 On completion of asbestos surveys, the contractor provides the Council with a PDF of the 

survey report, however the results of the survey are only uploaded to the Asbestos 

Register when the spreadsheet is received from the contractor every three months. For 

repairs, on testing information being provided to operatives and contractors it was noted 

that asbestos is not flagged on the housing system and as a result for each repairs job the 

staff are required to check manually for the most up to date asbestos information; 

(Medium) and 

3.16 The Council’s web page does not include information on safety in the home regarding 

legionnaires disease, preventing mould, damp and condensation, annual gas/other fuel 

servicing, and asbestos. (Low) 

4 The Compliance Audit includes detailed findings and the key actions:  

4.1 The last safety check and next safety check date will be recorded on the housing 

compliance programmes maintained on spreadsheets.  

4.2 The Council will investigate implementing a software system to maintain and manage the 

housing compliance safety checks/servicing programmes. 

4.3 An electrical testing programme will be implemented. 

4.4 The Council will agree a frequency at which the programmes will be reconciled. 

4.5 The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, asbestos, electrical and fire safety 

programmes/records will then be reconciled to the housing management system and stock 

condition database at the agreed frequency.  

4.6 Eight records were identified where one or more of the checks (alarm servicing, fire 

extinguisher checks and/or emergency lighting) was not being undertaken at the property. 

For the eight cases identified a review will be undertaken to identify the checks to be 

undertaken and they will be undertaken accordingly. 

4.7 A log of remedial actions identified for housing compliance safety checks/servicing on gas, 

solid fuel, oil fired, electrical and fire safety will be maintained documenting the remedial 

actions, the target date for resolving the actions and the date the actions were resolved.  

39



 

 
 

4.8 This log will be subject to regular monitoring to ensure that the remedial actions are 

resolved and on a timely basis.  

4.9 Certificates/servicing records for gas (including solid fuel and oil fuelled), legionella, 

electrical testing and fire safety will be maintained on a central location on the server and 

will be made available to all the appropriate staff. 

4.10 The Council will implement a contract for fire safety. 

4.11 A full survey and risk assessment of the fire integrity of sheltered accommodation and flats 

will be arranged. 

4.12 Going forward the fire risk assessments will be subject to annual review. 

4.13 A suite of performance information for housing compliance - gas, electrical, legionella, 

asbestos and fire safety will be agreed by Council. 

4.14 Performance management reports will be produced and reviewed each month by the 

Repairs Manager, Improvements Manager and the Assistant Director Housing for gas, 

electrical, fire safety, legionella and asbestos. 

4.15 As a minimum the Council will be provided with performance and KPI data on housing 

compliance: gas, electrical, fire safety, legionella and asbestos every quarter. 

4.16 An up to date Housing Asset Management Strategy will be Implemented. 

4.17 The frequency of the review of the Housing Asset Management Strategy will be agreed 

and reviewed accordingly including the addition of version control.  

4.18 Once a full review of the Asset Management Strategy has been completed appropriate 

consultation with tenants and leaseholders will be undertaken. 

4.19 The Housing Asset Management Strategy will be disseminated to all the relevant staff. 

4.20 Electrical safety procedures will be implemented for tenanted and sheltered housing 

properties. 

4.21 Fire safety procedures will be implemented for housing properties. 

4.22 The following policies/procedures will be reviewed and updated as required: 

1. Asbestos Management Policy. 

2. Asbestos Removal Procedures to Contractor - Voids. 

3. Property Services Asbestos Management Strategy. 

4. Procedures to ensure servicing of gas burning appliances within Council 

owned housing stock.  

5. Fire Safety. 

6. Shower Head Procedure – Voids. 

4.23 There are three members of staff who should complete their online fire awareness 

training. 

4.24 The Improvements Team training matrix will be maintained up to date. 

4.25 A monitoring system will be put into place for Managers to ensure all relevant health and 

safety training and job-related training has been undertaken and the matrix is maintained 

up to date. 

40



 

 
 

4.26 All relevant staff and contractors will be reminded to ensure that the housing compliance 

safety checks for gas, oil fuel, solid fuel, legionella, fire safety and electrical is undertaken 

in accordance to the timescales set by the Council. 

4.27 The Council will review and agree the escalation procedures based on the risk to the 

Council and statutory/regulatory requirements. 

4.28 The escalation procedures will then be applied according to the agreed escalation 

procedures.  

4.29 An audit trial of the escalation will be maintained.  

4.30 The Council will agree the housing compliance areas where internal quality assurance 

checks will be undertaken.  

4.31 The checks will then be undertaken accordingly.  

4.32 Monitoring will be undertaken to ensure that the required internal quality assurance 

audits/checks are being undertaken. 

4.33 The 1,675 records on the asbestos register will be investigated.   

4.34 The Council will engage/discuss with the asbestos contractor with a view of obtaining the 

asbestos information for uploading to the stock condition database on a more frequent 

basis.  

4.35 The Council will investigate introducing a flag for asbestos on the housing/repairs system. 

4.36 The Council’s web page to include information on safety in the home regarding 

legionnaires disease (this only applies to homes with communal water tank facilities and 

not domestic homes), preventing mould, damp and condensation, annual gas/other fuel 

servicing and asbestos 

4.37 Members can refer to the Improvement Plan (Appendix 2) for further high-level details and 

reporting of progress against the above items will be submitted to Rural and Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

5 Background to the Riverside Independent Consultants Inquiry Report 

5.1 Appendix 3 to this paper is the Executive Summary report of the Independent Consultants 

into the Council’s management of the works contract which was commissioned to repair 

hot water and heating services within the Riverside housing complex. The inquiry was 

conducted by Julie Picken, an independent HR Consultant, who has previously completed 

employment investigations for Council’s and had the necessary background knowledge 

and experience. The Consultant will also provide a presentation at the Committee meeting 

of her findings to assist with members appreciation of the report detail. 

5.2 The Council’s Riverside Upgrade project was to rerun all existing heating services from 

the main plant room to each of the 90 properties on the Riverside Scheme by replacing 

the original pipework between the main boiler and each property. Work began on site on 

29 April 2019 and should have been completed by the end of August 2019. The project 

had experienced several delays with residents, many of whom were elderly or vulnerable, 

were still reliant on temporary heating and hot water measures in January 2020. 

5.3 On 31 October 2019 during a site visit the HSE issued a Prohibition Notice enforcing a 

cease and desist notice on the construction/improvement project at Riverside. The 

Prohibition Notice was based on the concern that construction / improvement work was 

41



 

 
 

being undertaken by contractors without the proper asbestos survey information having 

been provided by the Council as the employer responsible for the correct checks having 

taken place. It came to light from a subsequent disciplinary investigation that the wrong 

asbestos survey information had been provided for the type of work being carried out by 

the contractor at the start of the project in April 2019 and this had not been identified by 

contractors or SKDC employees. As a result, contractors, SKDC employees, residents 

and the general public could have been put at risk of exposure to asbestos. 

5.4 The legislation governing the management of asbestos is set out in Section 2 and 3 of the 

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, the Control of Asbestos at Work Regulations 2012 

and the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015. South Kesteven 

District Council (SKDC) have a Corporate Health and Safety Asbestos Management 

Policy and the Property and Facilities Asbestos Management Procedure which provide 

guidance and set the standard required when managing asbestos. The anticipated final 

HSE report including findings and sanctions is now anticipated in December 2020. The 

Independent Consultants report only touches upon the actions of officers relating to the 

management of the general contract of works, and the objectives are as identified below. 

5.5 Objectives were:  

5.6 a) To investigate the facts and provide a report of the findings and recommendations. 

5.7 b) Based on the evidence gathered, identify appropriate actions for the Council to consider 

adopting when approaching projects of this nature in future. 

5.8 Key Findings were:  

5.9 a) To explore available information relating to the approach taken by SKDC in the 

past to provide hot water and heating services to the residents of Riverside. 

5.9.1 Replacement of parts of the hot water and heating system in 2012 and 2016, given the 

age of the connecting pipework, was perhaps short-sighted. 

5.9.2 Serious issues with hot water and heating began in 2016. 

5.9.3 Lack of a central point to record issues and complaints and management oversight. 

5.9.4 Lack of action by the Council to fully investigate and resolve the root cause of the 

concerns until a decision to replace the pipework was made in January 2019. 

5.10 b) To explore the commissioning process used to appoint the Contractor to carry 

out the work on site and whether this followed the agreed SKDC process. 

5.10.1 The Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules were correctly followed in 

appointing the contractor. 

5.10.2 The Project Officer may not have been suitably qualified in commercial heating to provide 

accurate information to the Framework provider, to enable a suitable contractor to be 

recommended. 

5.10.3 Pre-contract actions were not completed by the contractor or the Council before work 

started. 

5.11 c) To explore the management of the project from when work began on site on 

29 April 2019 until completion. 

5.11.1 The following actions as required by SKDC policies/processes were not completed or 

correctly followed by the Project Officer: Project Check Sheet not completed, FH10 

42



 

 
 

notification not sent to HSE, no records of contract management meetings or evidence of 

weekly site visits to monitor safe practices, no risk register, the Construction Phase Plan 

not completed by the contractor, yet this was not challenged. 

5.11.2 The Corporate H&S Asbestos Management Policy and Property and Facilities Asbestos 

Management Procedure had not been followed resulting in the Project Officer providing 

the contractor with the wrong asbestos survey information and the HSE issuing a 

prohibition notice.  

5.11.3 Lack of management oversight of the Project Officer’s actions.  

5.12 c) To explore the management of the project from when work began on site on 

29 April 2019 until completion. 

5.12.1 The CPPR process was not followed as no-one was appointed to manage the contract 

and progress works during the Project Officer’s 7 weeks sickness absence. 

5.12.2 The H&S Compliance Officer’s concerns about site management, when the project was 2 

months behind schedule and the Project Officer absent, did not result in any action to 

robustly manage the contract and get the works on track.  

5.12.3 From 1 November 2019 there was a more structured and robust approach to deal with the 

asbestos effectively and manage the contract. 

5.13 d) To explore the impact of the project on Riverside residents.  

5.13.1 Considerable hardship endured due to the project not completing until February 2020, 

instead of the end of August 2019.  

5.13.2 Temporary measures put in place were insufficient to provide enough hot water and 

heating during the cold winter months. 

5.13.3 Most residents are elderly and retired, some with long term health issues, so the impact 

was significant.  

5.13.4 Residents felt let down, not cared about and lied to.  

5.13.5 A regular and an approachable presence on site after 1 November 2019 were welcomed. 

5.14 Recommendations from the Independent Inquiry  

5.14.1 Single point for incoming calls from residents concerning hot water and heating issues.  

5.14.2 Manage the collated data to facilitate analysis and regular formal review by senior 

managers. 

5.14.3 Complete review into Council properties with similar commercial type hot water and 

heating systems. 

5.14.4 Ensure Project Officers appointed to procure works and manage contracts are suitably 

qualified. 

5.14.5 Project Officers to work more collaboratively from the outset and utilise internal expertise 

to identify risks and mitigating actions e.g. H&S, Asbestos, Equality. 

5.14.6 Develop a communications plan tailored to residents’ specific needs. 

5.14.7 Be honest if problems arise and provide opportunities to explain and respond to concerns. 

5.14.8 Continue with work to deliver one shared drive for the team and a standard file structure. 

43



 

 
 

5.14.9 Quarterly Audits of projects to be conducted by H&S Compliance Officer and Asbestos 

Co-ordinator and feedback provided to the Project Officer and Senior Manager. 

5.14.10 H&S Compliance Officer and Asbestos Co-ordinator to conduct unannounced site visits to 

carry out observations and ensure compliance with SKDC policies and legislation. 

5.14.11 Tighter project management and governance. 

5.14.12 Key stages of projects to be formally signed off by the Project Officer, checked and 

countersigned as correct by a Senior Manager. 

5.14.13 Templates to be developed to facilitate this process and provide a clear audit trail of 

robustly managing contracts. 

5.14.14 Managers at all levels to conduct regular one to one meetings to ensure accountability for 

actions and checking of outputs.  

5.14.15 Continue with efforts to create more of a “one team” culture across both sites. 

5.14.16 Continue the recent practice of Project Officer’s checking each other’s project folders, 

including site visits. 

5.15 Action Plan in response to the Recommendations  

5.16 The Council can be re-assured that the Housing department did not wait until the findings 

of this report before implementing changes within the team.  

5.17 The Council can note that all of the recommendations above have been implemented and 

that the team have learnt much from the Independent Inquiry.  

5.18 The Housing Service has a new Interim Assistant Director for Housing and has appointed 

a new Improvements Manager to ensure that the team have adequate resource and the 

right skillset to lead the service.  

5.19 Further works have been undertaken during summer 2020 to replace the whole system at 

Riverside and as such no residents will have issues with their heating or hot water system. 

This project has been closely managed and residents have been kept informed on 

progress of these works and as a result there have been no complaints received during 

this period.  

6 Revised HRA 3 year rolling programme 

6.1 Given that the focus of the housing team will be actioning the improvement plan, achieving 

compliance, and the actions highlighted above the HRA new build programme has been 

rationalised accordingly, to ensure robust target delivery objectives, release funds for 

stock improvement activities and focus investment proposals over a more reliable timeline 

of 3 years. 

6.2 Background to the Programme  

6.3 The key outcomes in the 2017-2021 Housing Strategy includes the following: 

6.4 Maximising Council investment in affordable housing using traditional, off-site and modular 

construction options. 

6.5 The continued delivery of Council housing to meet social housing needs. 

6.6 Best use of existing land and property that can be converted to housing as quickly as 

possible.   

44



 

 
 

6.7 Cabinet approved the progression of feasibility work on 10 Council owned sites in January 

2018 with the potential to deliver around 105 new homes in the district.    

6.8 Further work was subsequently carried out on these and other Council owned sites to 

determine potential routes for delivery of new housing schemes as part of a wider 

assessment of options for strategic housing delivery in South Kesteven.  

6.9 The appraisal of other Council sites in addition to the initial ten approved by Cabinet at 5.3 

has also been carried out because of increased levels of housing need for one-bedroom 

accommodation. In addition, A review of several Council garage sites has been completed 

to identify those with development potential for this type of accommodation and proposals 

are being progressed. The availability of funding arising from planning Section 106 

commuted sums towards the development of affordable homes. The commuted sums are 

time limited so two Council sites have been identified to utilise these funds towards the 

provision of affordable homes in Bourne and Stamford.  

7 Development programme previously 

7.1 A number of schemes have been developed further from the initial feasibility carried out, 

please see table below.  

 
Current Housing Development Programme 2019-20 

  

Location Details No of Homes Targeted 
Start on Site 

Overall 
Budget 

Outcome 

Earlesfield 
Lane 
Grantham 

Council owned 
land 

4 x 1-bed homes – 
modular 

construction 

2018-19 £0.8m Completed 19-20 

Kinoulton 
Court  
Grantham 

Council owned 
land 

10 x 1-bed homes 
– modular 

construction 

2018-19 £1.3m Completed 19-20 

Former 
Blessed 
Hugh 
Moore 
School 
Grantham  

Council owned 
land 

85 homes 2019-20 £9m Withdrawn 

Trinity 
Road,  
Stamford 

Council owned 
land 

5 x 1 and 2 bed 
bungalows 

2019-20 £0.9m Start on site 
deferred to 20-21 

Meadow 
Close 
Bourne 

Council owned 
land 

7 x 1 and 2 bed 
bungalows and 

flats 

2019-20 £0.8m Start on site 
deferred to 20-21 

Low Road, 
Barrowby 

Acquisition 25 homes 2019-20 £3m Planning refused 

Beaufort 
Drive, 
Bourne 

Acquisition 30 homes 2019-20 £4.35m Withdrawn * 

Swinegate, 
Grantham 

Council owned 
land 

24 homes 2019-20 £3.68m Deferred to 20-21 

Kesteven 
Rd, 
Stamford 

Council owned 
land 

23 homes 2019-20 £2.76m Deferred to 22-23 

45



 

 
 

*This scheme was discussed at Rural OSC and it was confirmed that it had been 

withdrawn due to planning consent not being approved. Consideration is being given to 

another site.  

7.2 The impact of Covid-19 has resulted in some sites being deferred to 2020-2021 as 

detailed in the table above. 

7.3 Feasibility work on other sites in the pipeline has been ongoing to determine the more 

deliverable sites and provide continuity in the Council’s supply of new homes in the 

district.  

7.4 Development programme going forward 

7.5 Due to the uncertainty around the acquisition of properties via another developer as 

detailed in the table above, acquisitions have been taken out of the Development 

programme. Any future acquisitions will be presented to Cabinet for approval in the form of 

a business case. 

7.6 For further certainty on budget spend for members, we have reduced the Development 

programme to a 3-year rolling programme which will allow the Development Team to 

report on more accurate forecasting. 

7.7 The table below outlines the new proposed Development programme based on a 3 year 

spend and no acquisitions.  

 

8 Working with other Providers 

8.1 The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) highlights the need for all sizes of 

housing from one bed units upwards.  The open market housing is currently providing two 

bedrooms upwards in the form of houses. There is very limited development of special 

needs and elderly accommodation being provided across the district and this is an area 

that has been highlighted in the SHMA.  The other housing type being overlooked is 

bungalow accommodation, the reason being that this type of accommodation is ‘land 

hungry’ expensive to develop with lesser financial returns. 

8.2 The affordable housing provisions across the area is very similar to that of the private 

market.   The following percentage types of affordable accommodation required is as 

follows: 

One bedroom - 10/15% 

Two bedroom -  40/45% 

Three bedroom -  30/35% 

Four bedrooms + -  10/15% 

8.3 The one- and two-bedroom requirement includes the need for one- and two-bedroom 

bungalows for the over 55’s which should all be developed with physical disabilities in 

mind. 

Financial Year Budget Amount Homes Delivered 

   

21-22 £10.5m 46 

22-23 £15m 130 

23-24 £18.5m 173 
 

46



 

 
 

8.4 Planning gain sites are picking up the need for affordable two- and three-bedroom houses 

and marginally four-bedroom houses following negotiations with developers. The Council’s 

Development programme has provided some much needed one- and two-bedroom 

properties in the form of flats and some bungalows.  

8.5 The Council’s Registered Partners working in partnership with the Council are attempting 

to provide general needs housing consisting of all size accommodation based on the 

above percentages in Grantham, Stamford and Bourne. The tenure on these sites are 

based on the SHMA recommendation of 60% affordable rent and 40% affordable home 

ownership.  However, these developments are not meeting the affordable housing needs 

across South Kesteven in the quantity required, especially affordable rented (both social 

and affordable). 

8.6 Therefore, the areas needed to be concentrated on are as follows: - 

Size and Type of 

Accommodation 

Tenure Type Comments 

   

One-bedroom flats Social rent Requirement would be for 

a development of 

supported 

accommodation for the 

vulnerable homeless. 

One bedroom 

terraced/quarter houses 

Social and affordable rent Available for ‘move-on’ 

accommodation from the 

supported unit(s) in the 

four main towns 

One-bedroom bungalows Social and affordable rent Available for all ages, but 

with particular attention 

paid to developing around 

a ‘core’ of extra care and 

care home facilities, 

especially in Stamford, 

Bourne and then the 

Deepings 

Two-bedroom 

houses/flats 

Social and affordable rent The affordable rented are 

currently being provided 

on planning gain sites and 

RP sites (with funding 

support) so efforts should 

be made to concentrate 

on social rent  

Three-bedroom houses Social and affordable rent As above 

 

8.7 The Council are also working with Registered Provider partners on ‘Rural Exception’ sites 

to meet the needs of the local community and also ‘Entry Level’ sites to bring forward a 

wider affordable housing tenure form for the wider South Kesteven community, working 

with both RP’s and private developers.  The biggest issue in SK is affordability especially 

in the southern part of the District. 

47



 

 
 

8.8 Homes England 

8.9 The Council has just been awarded £87,000 from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 

and Local Government for the Next Steps Accommodation Programme, to provide 

temporary accommodation for rough sleepers. In accessing this grant money, the Council 

will become an Investment Partner. 

8.10 Homes England have announced the next Affordable Homes Programme for 2021-2026. It 

is our intention to bid for grant for the Development programme on a Continuous Market 

Engagement basis, meaning we will bid for each site on its individual merit. This will 

ensure the Council will still use funds from Right to Buy receipts and it’s 1 for 1 obligation 

which cannot be used alongside the grant funding. 

9 Reinvesting in our own Stock 

9.1 The HRA will refocus the balance of Capital budget in reinvesting in our own housing 

stock. 

9.2 Budget bids have been prepared for the 2021-22 financial year with more emphasis on 

Compliance, Carbon Reduction, Fuel Poverty, SAP Ratings, and general modernisation of 

the existing stock. 

9.3 Emphasis will be on the Heating and Ventilation of our ‘off-grid’ stock. Electric heating 

upgrades to properties with electric heating such as storage heaters or electric radiators.  

9.4 In the region of 600 council properties still have solid fuel heating, an enhanced 

programme is due to begin from 21/22 on removing solid fuel heating and replacing with 

electric heating with the addition of solar panels and battery storage.  

9.5 There are emerging issues with previously installed electric heating where solid fuel has 

been removed and these mainly focus around fuel poverty. An Overarching Strategy for 

Energy Efficiency is required to determine the objectives of the Council to minimise our 

Carbon Footprint without adding to the fuel poverty of our tenants. This would include the 

need to identify programmes to improve the thermal efficiency, energy conservation, and 

SAP rating of existing homes. 

10 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

10.1 Members were invited to attend an all Councillor briefing on the 3 November 2020 to 

receive a presentation on the Compliance Audit, the amended HRA 3 year rolling new 

build programme and the Riverside Inquiry where they were able to ask questions about 

the findings and implementation of the recommendations.  

10.2 This report was received by the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

on the 12 November 2020 where there was a comprehensive discussion regarding the 

content of the Housing Compliance Audit and the Riverside Inquiry.  

10.3 The Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 12 November 2020 

also received a presentation by Julie Picken and were able to ask questions regarding her 

investigation at Riverside and she confirmed the scope of her brief and findings. The 

Committee welcomed this and agreed that these reports should be considered by Council.   

10.4 The Committee approved the recommendations and will receive quarterly reports on 

progress for the Council to become compliant in the areas raised in the Compliance Audit 

and they will be kept updated on discussions with the Regulator 

48



 

 
 

10.5 The Housing Compliance report will also be considered by Governance and Audit Scrutiny 

Committee on the 19th November 2020 given that the audit findings from RSM are 

standard agenda items for that Committee.  

10.6 The Council has reported itself to the Social Housing Regulator for the non-compliance on 

the Housing Compliance and a letter was sent to all tenants on or around the 4th 

November 2020 outlining the findings of this report and the next steps.  

11 Available Options Considered 

11.1 The Council could have chosen not to report the findings of the Housing Compliance Audit 

to the Regulator and completed the works required. This would be extremely high risk in 

case there had been an incident at one of our properties.  

11.2 The Independent Inquiry was requested by members of the public and Councillors to 

provide an opportunity to fully investigate the issues with the project and to provide the 

Council with lessons learnt for future projects.  

11.3 There was not a ‘do nothing’ option for appointing this piece of work to be undertaken.  

12 Preferred Option 

12.1 The Council approve the findings and recommendations in the Housing Compliance Audit 

and endorse the revised HRA 3 year rolling programme with a revised focus on 

improvements and achieving compliance as soon as reasonably practicable given the 

need some fundamental works to be completed such as a stock condition survey on all 

Council properties and implementation of a new compliance IT system for maintenance.  

12.2 The Council note the findings and recommendations in the Independent Inquiry and 

ensure that the service implements all of these for future projects and keeps the Rural and 

Communities Scrutiny Committee informed.  

13 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

13.1 The Council is required to undertake a lot of remediation work to be compliant in the 

housing and improvement service that it provides its tenants. It is unacceptable that we 

are non-compliant and as such reported ourselves to the Regulator.  

13.2 It was requested by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that they scrutinised the 

Independent Inquiry into the Riverside project which has been completed and 

recommended that Council noted the process that had taken place.  

14 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

14.1 All tenants have received a letter outlining the findings of the Housing Compliance Audit 

and that they will be contacted about accessing their property. Further tenant information 

is available on a new web page and this will be reviewed and updated to ensure this 

provides ongoing detail for tenants seeking further information. 

14.2 A section on the Councils website will be dedicated to the Housing Compliance Audit, 

information about the Regulator, some frequently asked questions and also a telephone 

number and dedicated email for any queries from tenants.  

14.3 A Communications Strategy has been drafted and a Leadership team (including the Chief 

Executive and Leader of the Council) are meeting weekly to monitor progress. An 

Improvement Plan is appended to this report as Appendix 3 for Council to note its 

progress in addressing the actions required.  

49



 

 
 

14.4 The tenants at Riverside will be communicated with to make them aware of the Inquiry 

outcomes following Council. 

15 Financial Implications  

15.1 The HRA financial business plan and supporting financial framework will need to be 

reviewed in light of the emerging pressures to respond to the compliance issues and the 

change of emphasis for the capital programme.  This shift in focus will be considered and 

put forward as part of the budget preparation work that is currently underway. 

15.2 There will be significant implications on the improvement budget but the full extent of the 

need for additional funding will not be known until the stock condition survey has been 

completed, and a new Asset Management and revised HRA Business Plan are developed 

in the latter part of 2021.  

15.3 IT system upgrade costs for the installation and commissioning of the Housing Technical 

Services compliance system will need to be considered for approval during the current 

financial year due to the urgency to respond to the audit findings. 

15.4 There were financial implications from the Riverside project – there was a direct payment 

award of £44k to the affected tenants, individual compensation payments for damaged 

personal items totalling £11k and waived service charges that totalled £49k over the 

affected period.  The costs associated with the works totalled £500k and these were 

budgeted capital costs.The total costs were met from within the HRA budget for 2020/21. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

16 Legal and Governance Implications  

16.1 The Council has a legal obligation to its tenants which is why it has reported itself to the 

Regulator for non-compliance in the Housing Audit.  

16.2 The audit report highlights failure to comply with regulations and lack of governance on 

some work streams.  

16.3 There is significant work to be done by the housing service which is all outlined in the 

action plan and timelines.  

16.4 Given the seriousness of the issues raised, the Council must ensure that the immediate 

risks are rectified in accordance with the timescales; and that systemic changes to 

housing management are implemented. The Monitoring Officer has additional powers to 

report on breaches of the law, should the improvements not be made. 

16.5 The Council has a legal obligation to its tenants which has failed on the Riverside project.  

16.6 The Independent Inquiry report highlights that the Council’s Contract and Procurement 

Procedure Rules were correctly followed in appointing the contractor, but poor governance 

was a key factor highlighted in the report.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

17 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

17.1 No equality and safeguarding implications. 

 

 

50



 

 
 

18 Risk and Mitigation 

18.1 There are significant risks currently in the areas that the Council are non-compliant with. 

The Council needs to focus on rectifying these as soon as possible.  

18.2 The risks were not properly managed during the Riverside project which have been 

highlighted in the Inquiry findings. The Housing team should mitigate these for future 

projects and ensure appropriate procedures are complied with and documented.  

19 Community Safety Implications  

19.1 Other than those matters covered within the report relating to compliance and the 

independent report from the Consultant investigating the management of the project works 

at Riverside there are no other wider community safety implications. 

20 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

20.1 N/A 

21 Other Implications (where significant)  

21.1 None 

22 Background Papers 

22.1 Appendix 1 RSM Housing Compliance Audit  

22.2 Appendix 2 Housing Improvement Plan 

22.3 Appendix 3 Riverside Independent Inquiry 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not required 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

12 November 2020 

Final Decision date   26 November 2020 

 

51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL  
Housing Compliance - Gas, Electrical, Legionella, Asbestos and Fire Safety 
Internal Audit Report 3.20/21 

FINAL  

20 October 2020 

This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party.  

53



    

 
 

   2
 

 

Why we completed this audit 
With the use of secure portals for the transfer of information, and through 
electronic communication means, remote working has meant that we have 
been able to complete our audit and provide you with the assurance you 
require. It is these exceptional circumstances which mean that 100 per cent of 
our audit has been conducted remotely. Based on the information provided by 
you, we have been able to sample test.  

A review of Housing Compliance - Gas, Electrical, Legionella, Asbestos and 
Fire Safety was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of the 
approved internal audit periodic plan for 2020/21. 

In 2019 the Council’s Housing Development and Improvement department 
and the Repairs department were combined to form the Improvement and 
Repairs Team. This team was led by the Head of Improvement and Repairs. 
This position is currently vacant. The Housing directorate is currently led by 
the Interim Assistant Director – Housing.  

The Council’s housing compliance safety checks are managed by the 
Improvement and Repairs Team. The Improvements Team is led by the 
Improvements Manager and the Repairs Team is led by the Repairs Manager.  

Fire safety, legionella, asbestos and gas safety are managed by the 
Improvement Team and the checks/servicing is undertaken by Council 
appointed contractors. The electrical safety checks are the responsibility of the 
Repairs Team.   

A stock condition database and the asbestos register are maintained on a 
bespoke system. The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, electrical and fire 
safety checks/servicing programmes are managed and maintained on excel 
spreadsheets. 

 

 

Conclusion  
This review has confirmed that the Council does not have adequate controls 
for housing compliance - gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety in 
place. We identified gaps in the control framework and weaknesses in 
adherence to the controls for managing housing compliance safety checks 
and have agreed seven ‘high’, eight ‘medium’ and one ‘low’ priority 
management actions. Further details are provided in Section 2 of this report.   

Internal audit opinion: 

Taking account of the issues 
identified, the Council cannot 
take assurance that the 
controls upon which the Council 
relies to manage this risk are 
suitably designed, consistently 
applied or effective. Action 
needs to be taken to ensure 
risks relating to housing 
compliance safety checks are 
effectively managed.  

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

54



 

3 
 

 

Key findings 
We confirmed that the following controls are operating effectively in practice: 

 

The supply and provision of high visibility jackets for Fire Wardens are the responsibility of Corporate Operations to co-ordinate centrally.  Personal 
protective equipment stocks are not maintained and are ordered on an individual basis;  

 

The objective of the Housing Asset Management Strategy is to guide the future shape and direction of the Council’s housing assets to ensure they 
meet corporate objectives and customer expectations and sets out the frequency of housing compliance safety checks; 

 

Right to Buy applications and all relevant works carried out on void properties are notified to the Stock Database Officer to update the stock condition 
database. The Stock Database Officer then notifies all the relevant staff in the Improvement and Repairs Team; and  

 

The gas programme is managed by the gas contractor although the gas safety programme is maintained by the Council on a spreadsheet and 
includes the last safety check and the next safety check due date. 

We identified the following findings where management actions were agreed: 

 

For solid fuel, fire safety and legionella, the programme is held on a spreadsheet. The spreadsheets do not include key information like the last safety 
check, next safety checks and any notes relating to remedial actions or access to the property; (High) 

 

For electrical testing, it was noted a testing programme for 2020 has not been implemented. The housing management system and the stock 
condition database is not reconciled to the housing compliance safety checks/servicing programmes to ensure that every property is accounted for; 
(High) 

 

For sheltered accommodation/communal areas, fire alarm testing, extinguisher checks and emergency lighting checks are undertaken. On matching 
the fire alarm testing, extinguisher checks and emergency lighting checks programmes, eight sheltered accommodations/communal areas were 
identified where one or more of these checks was not being undertaken; (High) 

 

For gas, electrical, fire safety and legionella a log of remedial actions (further actions/improvements required) is not maintained and testing at this visit 
has highlighted that the further actions/improvements required are not always followed up, an audit trail is not always maintained of actions taken if 
any and monitoring is not undertaken to ensure that the remedial actions identified have been actioned; (High) 

 

Certificates/servicing records for the housing compliance safety checks undertaken are not maintained in a central location. For example, the electrical 
certificates may be retained by Repairs or by the Improvement Team within their project files. For a sample of 20, in six cases the electrical certificates 
were not provided to us and in 12 cases the electrical certificates for works carried out at the property were provided instead of the actual electrical 
testing certificates; (High) 

 

55



 

4 
 

 

 

An external contractor undertook the fire risk assessments in 2017. Currently there are no arrangements in place (a contract with a fire safety 
contractor is not in place for this service). The previous management action identified, in our February 2019 audit report, the need for full survey and 
risk assessments of the fire integrity of sheltered accommodation to be undertaken yet in this audit it has not been undertaken. Council policy requires 
fire risk assessments to be reviewed annually, however we noted that the fire risk assessments have not been subject to this annual review in 2020; 
(High) 

 

Senior Management and the Council are not provided with regular reports (and core KPI data) on the performance of housing compliance safety 
checks; (High) 

 

An up to date Housing Asset Management Strategy is not in place. The last Asset Management Strategy was prepared and approved in 2013 and 
covered the five year period between 2013 and 2018; (Medium) 

 

Up to date housing compliance safety checks policies and procedures are not in place; (Medium) 

 

Training/refresher training records for the Improvement Team was not maintained up to date at the time of the audit; fire awareness training was 
started by three members of staff in July 2019, February 2020 and July 2020 however this has not been completed; monitoring of training is not 
undertaken to ensure the training matrix/training records is maintained up to date; (Medium) 

 

Fire safety testing identified that for a sample of five blocks: in 16 cases the fire alarm testing was undertaken between four and 14 days after the last 
test and in two cases the fire alarm servicing was undertaken at every three months instead of every six months. For fire alarm servicing, fire 
extinguisher servicing and emergency lighting testing the spreadsheets do not always include the date of the previous visit and test; (Medium) 

 

For a sample of 20 properties, testing of solid fuel checks identified that in one case access to the property has not been gained since 2018 and in two 
cases was not gained in 2019. For the two properties with oil fuel the contractor highlighted that the tanks were too close to the fence/house. An 
escalation process is not in place and it could not be established if any review/action was undertaken; (Medium) 

 

Internal quality assurance audits are not undertaken on housing compliance safety checks/servicing to assure the works undertaken by the 
operatives/contractors; (Medium) 

 

A review of the Asbestos Register identified 1,675 property records where the records are documented as active however no further details are 
recorded for the properties; (Medium) 

 

 

 

 

56



 

5 
 

 

 

On completion of asbestos surveys, the contractor provides the Council with a PDF of the survey report, however the results of the survey are only 
uploaded to the Asbestos Register when the spreadsheet is received from the contractor every three months. For repairs, on testing information being 
provided to operatives and contractors it was noted that asbestos is not flagged on the housing system and as a result for each repairs job the staff are 
required to check manually for the most up to date asbestos information; (Medium) and  

 

The Council’s web page does not include information on safety in the home regarding legionnaires disease, preventing mould, damp and 
condensation, annual gas/other fuel servicing, and asbestos. (Low) 

 

57



 

6 
 

 

DETAILED FINDINGS AND ACTIONS 
 

This report has been prepared by exception. We have therefore only included in this section those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in 
control identified from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

The last safety check and next safety check date are clearly identified within the property system or similar 
for each property and can be used to identify those properties requiring checks. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

There is currently no spreadsheet for the electrical safety check programme.   
For the gas safety check programme managed by the gas contractor the gas programme is maintained on the Project Sheet Gas 
Servicing spreadsheet and includes the last safety check and the next safety check date.   
For solid fuel, fire safety checks and legionella, the housing compliance safety checks/servicing programmes are maintained as project 
sheets (as used in Improvements for major works) and as a result key information such as the last safety check, next safety checks and 
any notes relating to remedial actions or access is not recorded on these spreadsheets.  
The Council's oil fuelled properties are not recorded on a spreadsheet as there are only two properties and these are serviced by the gas 
contractor. Where key information such as the last safety check and next safety check is not recorded on spreadsheets containing the 
housing compliance safety checks/testing programmes, there is a risk that the housing compliance checks may not be managed 
effectively resulting in compliance checks not being undertaken within the required timescales. 

Management 
Action 1 

a) The last safety check and next safety check date will be 
recorded on the housing compliance programmes maintained on 
spreadsheets.  

b) The Council will investigate implementing a software system to 
maintain and manage the housing compliance safety 
checks/servicing programmes. 

Responsible Owner: 
a) Housing Head of Technical Services 
b) Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
 

Date: 
a) 31 
December 
2020 
b) 31 October 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

 

 

 

58



 

7 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Missing Control  

The gas (including solid fuel and oil fuelled), legionella, asbestos, electrical and fire safety programmes/ 
records are reconciled to the housing management system to ensure that every property is accounted for. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

× 
- 

Findings / 
Implications 

The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, electrical and fire safety programmes are managed and maintained on excel spreadsheets.  
For electrical testing, it was noted that currently a programme is not in place.  
A stock reconciliation was carried out of the stock condition database and the housing system in July 2020.  
It was noted that the safety programmes are not reconciled to the housing management system and the stock condition database to 
ensure that every property is account for on the safety programme.  
For a sample of 20 properties where solid fuel is in use, testing identified that in five cases solid fuel was no longer in use at the properties 
however the properties were still on the solid fuel programme spreadsheet.  
There is a risk that for properties where there have been changes for example new properties, change of heating systems, new gas 
installations etc may not be identified and servicing/safety checks may not take place. 

Management 
Action 2 

a) An electrical testing programme will be implemented 

b) The Council will agree a frequency at which the programmes 
will be reconciled.    

c) The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, asbestos, electrical 
and fire safety programmes/records will then be reconciled to the 
housing management system and stock condition database at the 
agreed frequency.  
Management Comment: Note new compliance system to be 
acquired and commissioned by December 2020. 

Responsible Owner: 
a) Housing Head of Technical Services 
b) Housing Head of Technical Services 
c) Interim Assistant Director of Housing 

Date: 
a) 31 January 
2021 
b) 31 January 
2021 
c) 31 
December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

59



 

8 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

For sheltered accommodation and communal area fire safety checks, fire alarm servicing, fire extinguisher to 
blocks and emergency lighting checks are undertaken. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

The fire safety check programme/records are maintained on three spreadsheets - fire alarm servicing, fire extinguisher to blocks and 
emergency lighting.  

The three spreadsheets were matched to ensure that all the fire safety fire alarm servicing, fire extinguisher to blocks and emergency 
lighting checks are being undertaken at all blocks and/or communal areas.   

Eight records were identified where one or more of the checks (alarm servicing, fire extinguisher checks and/or emergency lighting) was 
not being undertaken at the property.   

There is a risk that where regular reconciliations are not undertaken properties/communal areas that require checks and servicing may be 
missed resulting in an increased risk of fire. 

Management 
Action 3 

For the eight cases identified a review will be undertaken to 
identify the checks to be undertaken and they will be undertaken 
accordingly.  

Management Comment: Note these issues to be resolved by 
commissioning of new housing compliance software system - 
operational subject to procurement by December 2020. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Actions identified from safety inspections and risk assessments are adequately and accurately recorded and 
followed up to ensure completion. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

Testing of housing compliance safety checks/servicing for gas, solid fuel, oil fired, electrical, and fire safety identified that any remedial 
actions/improvements identified:  
- A log of remedial actions/improvements is not maintained.  

60



 

9 
 

 

- Are not always followed up.  
- Where followed up an audit trial was not always traceable/maintained of actions taken to resolve the action/improvement.  
- The remedial actions/improvements are not monitored to ensure that they have been actioned and on a timely basis.  
Fire Safety:  
For the sample of five blocks we were not able to establish if the remedial actions identified/highlighted on the fire risk assessment had 
been acted upon/resolved.   
There is an increased fire risk where remedial actions identified are not resolved and on a timely basis.  
For one of the sample of five blocks a number of fails were identified on testing the emergency lighting at the December 2019 visit. No 
evidence was provided to us to confirm the progress made with resolving the failure issues identified and if a retest was undertaken.  
There is a risk that the emergency lighting may fail in an event of an emergency.  
Electrical:  
For a sample of eight sheltered accommodation properties/blocks, testing identified that in two cases no information was provided to 
confirm that the improvements advised by the operative/contractor had been actioned.   
For a sample of 20 tenanted properties no information was provided to confirm if the actions identified in six cases had been actioned.  
Gas:  
For a sample of 20 properties with gas testing identified that in one case no evidence was provided to confirm the progress made with the 
remedial works highlighted.  
Solid Fuel:  
For a sample of 20 properties with Solid Fuel heating testing identified that in one case the fire at the property was condemned as the liner 
diameter was too small for an open fire. No evidence was provided to confirm the progress made with this and whether remedial work had 
been completed.    
There is a Health and Safety risk where remedial actions/improvements are not actioned. 

Management 
Action 4 

a) A log of remedial actions identified for housing compliance 
safety checks/servicing on gas, solid fuel, oil fired, electrical and 
fire safety will be maintained documenting the remedial actions, 
the target date for resolving the actions and the date the actions 
were resolved.  

b) This log will be subject to regular monitoring to ensure that the 
remedial actions are resolved and on a timely basis.  

Responsible Owner: 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

61



 

10 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Where required certificates or similar are held centrally for the gas (including solid fuel and oil fuelled), 
asbestos, legionella, electrical testing and fire safety checks completed for every property which include the 
date inspected, outcome and actions due. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

Sample testing of gas (20), oil fuelled (2), solid fuel (20), electrical safety (tenanted 20 and 5 blocks), fire safety (5 blocks) and legionella 
records (5 blocks) identified that currently the certificates/servicing records for gas (including solid fuel and oil fuelled), legionella, electrical 
testing and fire safety checks are not maintained in a central place resulting in the document not being readily available to staff. For 
example, currently the electrical certificates may be retained by the Repairs Team or by the Improvement Team within their project files. 
For the electrical testing, of the sample of 20:  
- Certificates for electrical testing was provided for two of the sample.  
- For six of the sample the certificates were not provided.  
- For the remaining 12 the certificates provided were for electrical works undertaken at the property instead of the electrical testing 
certificates.   
There is a risk that the Council may be unable to evidence that the housing compliance safety checks had been carried out and also the 
information is not readily available to the staff. 

Management 
Action 5 

Certificates/servicing records for gas (including solid fuel and oil 
fuelled), legionella, electrical testing and fire safety will be 
maintained on a central location on the server and will be made 
available to all the appropriate staff.   

Responsible Owner: 
Repairs Manager and Housing Head of 
Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Risk assessments (fire and asbestos) are carried out, are maintained up to date and are made available to 
all interested parties.  

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

  

62



 

11 
 

 

Findings / 
Implications 

An external contractor undertook the fire risk assessment for the Council in 2017.  

For a sample of five fire risk assessments, testing confirmed that the validity of the risk assessment was stated on the document as one 
year from the date of the risk assessment, for example 14 February 2017 to 14 February 2018.  

The Council’s fire safety procedure states the Council will “ensure that fire risk assessments are reviewed annually and that new baseline 
assessments are provided within agreed interval periods”. 

Subsequent to the audit, two examples of the annual fire risk assessments were provided however it was noted that were dated May and 
June 2019.  

The Improvements Manager advised that they are planning to carry out new fire risk assessments in the new year therefore no reviews 
were required this year. This is not consistent with the Council’s fire safety procedures which states the Council will “ensure that fire risk 
assessments are reviewed annually”.   

There may also be an increased risk of fires occurring where risk assessments are not reviewed annually as required. 

Our audit report on Fire Safety dated 11 February 2019 included findings regarding fire risk assessments and stated in the report that:  

“A full survey and risk assessment of the fire integrity of sheltered accommodation and flats is being commissioned to provide reassurance 
that a Stay Put policy is achievable and the most suitable option. As such, the 2018 FRAs have not yet been undertaken.   

Until the intrusive survey has been completed and the results assessed there is a risk that the existing Stay Put policy is not the most 
suitable course of action for residents to take at properties where it is currently implemented. This could lead to residents sustaining 
injuries if they follow a policy which may not be the most suitable for their property.” 

The management action agreed at the time was:  

“The Council is already working to identify a contractor to undertake the intrusive property surveys. A suitable contractor will be sourced as 
soon as possible to enable the surveys to commence. The Stay Put policy will be amended for each property based on the findings of the 
survey.”  

During this audit it was confirmed that no progress has been made with this. There is no current contract/arrangements in place for fire 
risk assessments.  

There is a risk of non-compliance to fire safety where the Council does not have a qualified member of staff, or a fire safety contractor is 
not engaged, to provide advice and guidance on fire safety and to undertake the fire risk assessments. 

  

63



 

12 
 

 

Management 
Action 6 

a) The Council will implement a contract for fire safety. 

b) A full survey and risk assessment of the fire integrity of 
sheltered accommodation and flats will be arranged.  

c) Going forward the fire risk assessments will be subject to 
annual review.   

Responsible Owner: 
a) Repairs Manager and Housing Head 
of Technical Services 
b) Repairs Manager and Housing Head 
of Technical Services 
c) Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
a) 31 January 
2021 
b) 31 October 
2020 
c) 31 
December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Missing Control  

Senior Management and the Council are regularly and accurately briefed on the Council’s compliance with 
health and safety regulation. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

× 
- 

Findings / 
Implications 

Performance on Housing Compliance - gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety are reviewed and monitored by management.  

It was also noted that Senior Management and the Council are not provided with regular reports on the performance of housing 
compliance safety checks. 

There is a risk that management, Senior Management and Council are not informed on the Council’s performance in relation to housing 
compliance in respect of gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety checks. 

Management 
Action 7 

a) A suite of performance information for housing compliance - 
gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety will be agreed 
by Council. 
b) Performance management reports will be produced and 
reviewed each month by the Repairs Manager, Improvements 
Manager and the Assistant Director Housing for gas, electrical, 
fire safety, legionella and asbestos    
c) As a minimum the Council will be provided with performance 
and KPI data on housing compliance: gas, electrical, fire safety, 
legionella and asbestos every quarter.   

Responsible Owner: 
a) Improvements Manager, Repairs 
Manager and Housing Head of 
Technical Services 
b) Housing Head of Technical Services 
c) Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

64



 

13 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

There is an Asset Management Strategy in place outlining the requirements and expectations of the Council. 

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

A Housing Asset Management Strategy 2013 -2018 is still currently in place.  

A review of the Strategy established that the document sets out the requirements for gas safety checks (including solid fuel and oil 
fuelled), asbestos, legionella, electrical testing and fire safety.   

The Strategy covers the period 2013 to 2018 and states that “the Housing Asset Management Strategy will need to be formally reviewed 
on an annual basis in consultation with tenants and leaseholders”. It could not be confirmed that the strategy was subject to this annual 
review.  

There is a risk that up to date guidance is not in place for the management of the Council’s housing assets. 

Management 
Action 8 

a) An up to date Housing Asset Management Strategy will be 
Implemented. 

b) The frequency of the review of the Housing Asset Management 
Strategy will be agreed and reviewed accordingly including the 
addition of version control.  

c) Once a full review of the Asset Management Strategy has been 
completed appropriate consultation with tenants and leaseholders 
will be undertaken. 

d) The Housing Asset Management Strategy will be disseminated 
to all the relevant staff. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently 
applied: ensuring that all statutory responsibilities are met.  

Control 
 

Procedural guidance is in place for:  

• Gas Safety checks (including solid fuel and oil-fired installations); 

• Fire Risk Assessments; 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

65



 

14 
 

 

• Electrical Testing; 

• Legionella; and 

• Asbestos. 

The procedures are available to all staff and tenants where applicable. 

Findings / 
Implications 

Electrical safety document is in place. A review of the document identified that guidance on maintaining electrical systems for tenanted 
and sheltered properties is not included.  

Fire safety procedures are not in place.  

It was also noted that the following policies/procedures are out of date:   

- Fire Safety Arrangements January 2019. 

- Asbestos Management Policy 2015.  

- Asbestos Removal Procedures to Contractor - Voids. 

- Property Services Asbestos Management Strategy February 2014.   

- Procedures to ensure servicing of gas burning appliances within Council owned housing stock August 2017.  

- Shower Head Procedure – Voids December 2015. 

There is a risk that up to guidance is not in place for staff and tenants. 

Management 
Action 9 

a) Electrical safety procedures will be implemented  for tenanted 
and sheltered housing properties.  
b) Fire safety procedures will be implemented for housing 
properties.  
c) The following policies/procedures will be reviewed and updated 
as required:  
- Asbestos Management Policy. 
- Asbestos Removal Procedures to Contractor - Voids. 
- Property Services Asbestos Management Strategy. 
- Procedures to ensure servicing of gas burning appliances within 
Council owned housing stock. 
- Fire Safety. 
- Shower Head Procedure – Voids. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
a) 31 
December 
2020 
b) 31 
December 
2020 
c) 30 April 
2021 
d) 31 
December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

66



 

15 
 

 

d) The policies and procedures will be subject to review every 
three years or earlier in the event of any changes occurring and 
include version control.  

e) 31 
December 
2020 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Staff are provided with appropriate job related and health and safety training to ensure they follow safe 
working practices. 

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

Fire Safety: 
Corporate Health and Safety maintain a record of all online fire awareness training undertaken by office-based staff. A review of the 
training records established that: 
- In 18 cases the training had been undertaken.  
- Three cases where the training was commenced in July 2019, February 2020 and July 2020 was not  completed.  
Improvements Team:  
A Training Matrix – Improvements is in place. A review of the matrix established that it was last updated on 10 October 2018. It was also 
noted that records do not include all the members of staff in the Improvements Team.  
After the audit a training matrix updated on 3 August 2020 was provided to us.   
There is a risk that staff training may be overlooked where the training matrix is not maintained up to date. 

Management 
Action 10 

a) The three members of staff will be reminded to complete their 
online fire awareness training.  

b) The Improvements Team training matrix will be maintained up 
to date  

c) A monitoring system will be put into place for Managers to 
ensure all relevant health and safety training and job-related 
training has been undertaken and the matrix is maintained up to 
date. 

Responsible Owner: 
a) Improvements Manager and Repairs 
Manager 
b) Improvements Manager 
c) Improvements Manager and Repairs 
Manager 

Date: 
a) 30 
September 
2020 
b) 30 
September 
2020 
c) 31 October 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

67



 

16 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Checks and/or works are carried out in the line with the timescales agreed by the Council and 
documents/records to evidence these checks are updated and retained. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

Fire Safety:   
Fire alarm servicing is undertaken every six months. For two of the five blocks, sample testing confirmed that the fire alarms were serviced 
every three months and the remaining three were serviced every six months.     
For the same sample of five blocks testing confirmed that for eight weeks between 9 June and 29 July 2020 the fire alarm testing had 
been undertaken; however, in nine cases the test was carried out between nine and 14 days after the last test.  
For the fire alarm servicing, emergency lighting testing and extinguisher servicing it was noted that the spreadsheet does not always 
include the previous visit and as a result we could not confirm if the checks were carried out in line with the agreed timescales.  
Electrical Safety: 
We were unable to test if the electrical safety checks were being undertaken as required as the Council does not have an electrical safety 
testing programme in place.   
Where the housing compliance safety checks are not undertaken in line with the agreed timescales there a risk that the Council is in 
breach of health and safety legislation. 

Management 
Action 11 

All relevant staff and contractors will be reminded to ensure that 
the housing compliance safety checks for gas, oil fuel, solid fuel, 
legionella, fire safety and electrical is undertaken in accordance to 
the timescales set by the Council. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 October 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Escalation procedures are in place and are complied with where checks are not completed for example 
inability to access properties.  

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

  

68



 

17 
 

 

Findings / 
Implications 

Solid Fuel: 

For a sample of 20 properties where solid fuel is in use testing identified that: in one case access to the property has not been gained 
since 2018 and two cases access to the properties was not gained in 2019. The Improvements Manager advised that as there is no 
statutory duty to carry out the annual service, access to the property is not chased and therefore the next service is then scheduled for in a 
year’s time. 

It is the Council’s policy that the solid fuel properties are visited for chimney sweeping on an annual basis. 

There is a risk to the Council of non-compliance to the policy and also a reputation/legal risk in event of any solid fuel related incident at 
the property.  

Oil Fired:  

The Council has two properties which are oil fired and testing is undertaken annually. Testing confirmed that these two properties were 
last serviced in April and May 2020. Review of the certificates issued by the contractor identified that comments made on the certificate – 
“too close to fence” and “tank too close to fence and house”.  

It could not be established if any review/action was undertaken.  

There is a reputation/legal risk to the Council in event of any oil fuel related incident at the property.  

Management 
Action 12 

a) The Council will review and agree the escalation procedures 
based on the risk to the Council and statutory/regulatory 
requirements.  

b) The escalation procedures will then be applied according to the 
agreed escalation procedures.  

c) An audit trial of the escalation will be maintained. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
a) 31 October 
2020 
b) 30 
November 
2020 
c) 30 
November 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Where appropriate, internal quality assurance audits are completed to assure the works of third parties is to 
the required standard. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

69



 

18 
 

 

Findings / 
Implications 

Improvements and Repairs:  

Internal quality assurance audits are not undertaken to assure the works of third parties. 

For Voids – void inspections are undertaken to ensure that the works carried out by the in-house operatives have been undertaken to the 
void specification.   

For electrical testing, the work is checked by the supervisor. For a sample of 14 electrical testing works, in five cases testing identified that 
the work was not checked and signed off by a supervisor.  

There is a risk that the works may not be carried out to the quality required by the Council or its contractors. 

Management 
Action 13 

a) The Council will agree the housing compliance areas where 
internal quality assurance checks will be undertaken.  

b) The checks will then be undertaken accordingly. 

c) Monitoring will be undertaken to ensure that the required 
internal quality assurance audits/checks are being undertaken. 

Responsible Owner: 
Repairs Manager and Housing Head of 
Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

The Asbestos Register is maintained up to date on the stock condition database.  

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

A review of the asbestos register identified that:  

- A total of 1,675 records were identified on the register where the records are documented as active however no further details are 
recorded for the properties - the number of places of asbestos identified, presumed, strongly presumed, the material risk, the priority rating 
and if its notifiable to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) fields are blank. 

- There is a risk that the asbestos register is not up to date and may lead to incorrect information being provided to contractors and DLO 
staff.   

Management 
Action 14 

The 1,675 records on the asbestos register will be investigated. Responsible Owner: 
Improvements Manager and Housing 
Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

70



 

19 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Contractors and repairs operatives are provided with access to the Asbestos Register with full details of any 
asbestos containing materials within a property before they commence any work on a property. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

On review of the process in updating the asbestos register with survey results, it was identified that:  
- On completion of the asbestos survey a PDF of the survey is emailed to the Council’s dedicated asbestos email ID.  
- Every quarter an excel spreadsheet containing the survey results for the previous three months is provided to the Council by the 
asbestos contractors. Through an interface this information is uploaded by IT to the asbestos register held on the stock condition 
database.  
Although the Council receives the PDF of the survey results at the time this is not available on the asbestos register until three months 
later and there is a risk that the most up to date asbestos information may not be available/readily available to the Council’s operatives/ 
contractors.  
For a sample of 20 repairs jobs testing confirmed that in all cases the operative/contractor was notified of asbestos at the property.  
The operatives are provided with a link to the Council’s asbestos folder on the server and to the asbestos register held on the stock 
condition database. Contractors are provided with a link to the asbestos register on the stock condition database.    
It was also noted that the Council does not have a flag system in place for asbestos on the housing system and as a result when a repair 
call is received the member of staff is required to undertake checks on the asbestos register/asbestos folder/check with the asbestos 
administrator for all repairs where there is potentially asbestos present for example ceiling, floor tiles, mould in property, roof leaks etc.   
There is a risk that these checks may not be undertaken, and this may result in additional costs to the Council with repeat visits/health 
risks to the operatives.    

Management 
Action 15 

a) The Council will engage/discuss with the asbestos contractor 
with a view of obtaining the asbestos information for uploading to 
the stock condition database on a more frequent basis.   

b) The Council will investigate introducing a flag for asbestos on 
the housing/repairs system 

Responsible Owner: 
Improvements Manager and Housing 
Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

  

71



 

20 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Tenants are made aware of safety precautions that they can take to ensure that hazards within their homes 
are minimised. These include (but are not limited to) advice on managing the presence of asbestos, flushing 
water systems, where appropriate, ensuring adequate ventilation and a requirement to request permission to 
carry out any modification to any part of the home. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

There is a page on the Council’s web site “Housing Stock - our Fire Safety position” and states:  “Following the tragic events at Grenfell 
Tower in June 2017 the Council would like to reassure all residents about its approach to fire safety, smoke detection and work being 
carried out on their properties” and includes “What you can do stay safe?” 
It was however noted that the Council’s web site does not provide any information on asbestos, legionella and preventing mould and 
condensation in the home. 
There is a risk that tenants are not being provided information on the Council’s website on the safety precautions that they can take to 
ensure that hazards within their homes are minimised. 

Management 
Action 16 

The Council’s web page to include information safety in the home 
regarding legionnaires disease (this only applies to homes with 
communal water tank facilities and not domestic homes), 
preventing mould, damp and condensation, annual gas/other fuel 
servicing and asbestos. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
30 November 
2020 

Priority: 
Low 

 

72



 

21 
 

 

Categorisation of internal audit findings 

Priority Definition 

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality. 

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which 
could affect the effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible reputational damage, negative 
publicity in local or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial 
losses, violation of corporate strategies, policies or values, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or 
adverse regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines. 

The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made as a result of this audit. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls reviewed in this area. 

 

 

APPENDIX A: CATEGORISATION OF FINDINGS 

Objective Control 
design not 
effective*

Non-
Compliance 

with controls*

Agreed management actions
Low Medium High 

A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures 
are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: 
ensuring that all statutory responsibilities are met. 

2 (24) 14 (24) 1 8 7 

Total  
 

1 8 7 

73



 

22 
 

 

APPENDIX B: SCOPE 

The scope below is a copy of the original document issued. 

Scope of the review 
The scope was planned to provide assurance on the controls and mitigations in place relating to the following objective: 

Objective of the risk under review 

A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: 
ensuring that all statutory responsibilities are met. 

When planning the audit, the following areas for consideration and limitations were agreed: 

The Council has a duty to ensure that all properties, including communal areas within properties, under its control meet the relevant health and safety 
regulations in respect to each of the following key areas:  

• Gas Safety checks (including solid fuel and oil-fired installations); 

• Fire Risk Assessments; 

• Electrical Testing; 

• Legionella; and 

• Asbestos.  

We will ensure, for each of the areas listed above, that: 

• There are clear policies and procedures in place regarding the requirements and expectations of the Council; 

• How the Council is kept informed of regulatory updates and ensures that Policies and Procedures remain up to date e.g. changes to fire safety 
requirements resulting from the Grenfell enquiry; 

• Policies and procedures are available to all staff and tenants where applicable; 

• The Council has agreed the frequency of all safety checks and when these will commence; 

74



 

23 
 

 

• Staff receive appropriate training to ensure they follow safe working practices and are provided with the necessary PPE; 

• Contractual agreements are in place with suppliers to complete the checks in a timely manner; 

• Once checks have been completed, reports/certificates are provided to the Council and where applicable, to the tenant, in a timely manner; 

• Appropriate records are held regarding the status of each property in the housing stock to ensure all checks required have been identified. This includes 
the verification for new properties through development or transfers in, disposals and identification of major works undertaken which could impact on the 
checks required; 

• Risk assessments (fire and asbestos) are carried out, are maintained up to date and are made available to all interested parties. Improvement actions 
identified during the risk assessment process are implemented promptly;  

• Where they are not held on the same system, the housing management system is reconciled to the health and safety records, to ensure that every 
property is accounted for; 

• The last safety check and next safety check date are clearly identified within the property system or similar for each property and can be used to identify 
those properties requiring checks; 

• Processes are in place to identify all properties due for safety checks and works are adequately arranged through an appropriately qualified and 
experienced contractor or similar; 

• Escalation procedures are in place and are complied with where checks are not completed for example due to a tenant refusing entry; 

• Where required certificates or similar are held for the safety checks completed for every property which include the date inspected, outcome and actions 
due; 

• Actions identified from safety inspections are adequately and accurately recorded, and followed up to ensure completion;  

• Contractors, including the Council’s repairs operatives are provided with access to the Asbestos Register with full details of any asbestos containing 
materials within a property, before they commence any work on a property; 

• Tenants are made aware of safety precautions that they can take to ensure that hazards within their homes are minimised. These include (but are not 
limited to) advice on managing the presence of asbestos, flushing water systems, ensuring adequate ventilation and a requirement to request permission 
to carry out any modification to any part of the home; 

• Checks and/or works are carried out in the line with agreed timescales e.g. gas: annual; electricity: five yearly; asbestos: five yearly; fire risk assessments: 
two yearly; fire alarm tests: weekly; legionella: monthly and documents/records to evidence these checks are updated and retained; 

• Where appropriate, internal quality assurance audits are completed to assure the works of third parties;  

• Breaches of Health and Safety legislation and near misses are identified and are report through the RIDDOR process; and compliance; and  

• Management are regularly and accurately briefed on the Council’s with health and safety regulation. 

 

75



 

24 
 

 

The following limitations apply to the scope of our work: 

• The scope of the work is limited to those areas examined and reported upon in the areas for consideration in the context of the objectives set out for this 
review;     

• Conclusions are based on our assessments made through discussions with management, assessment of the current framework of controls and review of 
relevant documentation made available; 

• We will not provide an opinion on whether the Council complies with Health and Safety legislation;   

• Our audit does not provide any assurance with regards to compliance with Health and Safety legislation and other HSE requirements, and does not 
replicate the advice provided by Health and Safety Consultants;   

• This audit does not replace the requirement for any of the external / independent inspections required by law;  

• We will not comment on whether the procedures incorporate the most up to date legislation, only that processes exist to identify and incorporate any 
changes;  

• We will not comment on the appropriateness of actions undertaken regarding non-compliance, only that they were identified and reported;    

• We will not confirm that all regulatory requirements of the Council have been identified for all properties; 

• We will not provide assurance that property records are complete or re-perform any reconciliations of the records held; 

• We will not comment on the completeness of the risk assessments / safety checks or actions identified as part of this; 

• We will not confirm that all action has been taken to escalate non-completion of safety checks; 

• We will not comment on the skills and qualifications of the inspectors; 

• We will not comment on the sufficiency of actions taken to address the findings of checks; 

• We will not confirm that all records are complete and all required safety checks / risk assessments have been identified and completed; 

• All testing will be compliance based sample testing only;   

• We will not verify the accuracy of the Health and Safety Reporting; and    

• Our work will not provide any guarantee against material errors, loss or fraud or provide an absolute assurance that material error, loss or fraud does not 
exist. 

 

 

 

 

76



 

25 
 

 

Debrief held 7 September 2020 Internal audit Contacts Rob Barnett, Head of Internal Audit 
Rob.Barnett@rsmuk.com / Tel: 07791 237658  

Amjad Ali, Senior Manager 
Amjad.Ali@rsmuk.com / Tel: 07800 617139 

Iain Daire, Assistant Manager  
Iain.Daire@rsmuk.com / Tel: 07528 970048 

Draft report issued 14 September 2020
Responses received 
Revised draft report 
issued 

13 October 2020 
19 October 2020 
 

Final report issued 20 October 2020 Client sponsor Christ Stratford Interim Assistant Director - Housing 

Distribution Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director - Housing 

Alan Smith, Repairs Manager 

Stuart Sheardown, Improvements Manager  

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance   

Tracey Elliott, Governance and Risk Officer   

77



 

rsmuk.com 

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the 
weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. Actions for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact. This report, or our work, should 
not be taken as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system 
of internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should our work be 
relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 

Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of South Kesteven District Council, and solely for the purposes set out herein. This report should not therefore be 
regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any rights from RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. 
Any third party which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage or 
expense of whatsoever nature which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 

This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), 
without our prior written consent. 

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  

RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 6th floor, 25 Farringdon Street, London EC4A 4AB. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

78



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

 

South Kesteven District Council Improvement Plan – November 2020  

 Issues Raised 
 
 

Comments Proposed Actions Timescales Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

 1. Last Stock 
Condition Survey 
completed 2009. 
There have been 
sample Stock 
Condition surveys 
by internal 
surveyors, these 
are however not 
consistent in 
detail and 
amount 
completed from 
year to year. 
 

Good Practice 
suggests 
comprehensive 
Stock Condition 
survey should be 
completed every 5 
years. It is proposed 
that 100% external 
and internal surveys 
are commissioned 
due to the time 
elapsed. 

Develop draft 
specification, and 
through the 
framework secure 
necessary 
selection of 
consultants to 
complete survey.  
 

Specification 
completed. 
procurement 
underway 
Commence stock 
condition survey to 
commence April 
2021 estimate 
completion October 
2021.  

HRA budget to 
meet costs of 
survey.  

Costs to be met by 
HRA and revenue 
growth bid submitted 
as part of budget 
process. 
 
 

 

 2. Effective I/T 
compliance 
monitoring, 
solution required 
for managing 
compliance 
requirements 
across key area of 
Housing Technical 
services. 

Initial scoping work 
followed by Officer 
demonstrations of 
products to ensure 
I/T solution for 
compliant 
monitoring is fit for 
purpose.  

Invited compliant 
monitoring 
providers to 
demonstrate 
solutions week 
commencing 21st 
September 2020.   

Complete scoping 
and selection of 
preferred product 
completed, and 
proposal submitted. 
Implementation 
target of January 
2021. 

Identify financial 
and internal 
resource required 
to acquire, install, 
train, and deploy 
new software.  

Budget requirement 
to be included in 
HRA.  
 

 

 3. Complete 
structure of 

Review paper on the 
core issues for both 

Liaised with HR to 
appoint Interim 

Full implementation 
of structural 

Short term costs 
of Interim Head of 

Initial cost increases 
to fully implement 

 

79



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

 

Housing Technical 
services, creating 
a Strategic 
Housing service 
centre and 
appoint Interim 
Head of Technical 
Services. 

service areas 
presented. Initial 
view on proposals 
positive. Further 
progress on 
Strategic Housing 
required. 

Head of Technical 
Services. Interim 
Head of Housing 
Services has been 
appointed. 

amendments if 
supported by Chief 
Executive by January 
2021, subject to 
recruitment 
timeline, approvals, 
and notice periods. 

Technical Services. 
To be contained 
within 2021 
budget envelope 
for HRA  

structural changes 
including Strategic 
Housing and cover 
Interim Manager. To 
be identified through 
reporting process 
 

 4. Review overall 
affordable 
housing 
development 
programme 
required to 
ensure more 
efficient 
deployment of 
HRA resources. 

Review direct 
investment priorities 
for affordable 
homes. submission 
of preferred 
development 
partner status with 
Homes England 
submitted. 

Complete review 
and Homes 
England status to 
reduce overall 
development 
costs by securing 
grant application 
done.  
 

Complete 
investment review, 
and present revised 
housing 
development 
investment plan 
covering a three-
year horizon.  

Resource impacts 
review should 
reduce overall 
direct HRA capital 
needs as grant is 
awarded and 
programme more 
focused. These 
resources can 
then be re 
allocated for other 
HRA compliance 
and improvement 
priorities. 

Budget needs within 
HRA for new 
Affordable homes to 
be reduced. New 
three year 
programme 
proposals to be 
submitted to 
members for 
approval. 

 

 5. Significant 
preparatory work 
to select new 
integrated I/T 
housing system 
has been 
achieved and 
reviewed 
required. Budget 
to be reviewed to 
acquire, train, 

Likely requirement 
for project team for 
this complex 
initiative to be 
managed. Review of 
initial specification, 
and work completed 
to understand total 
costs, and better 
define internal 
resource needs, and 

Review, plan, cost 
review, timeline 
accurately, and 
establish resource 
needs to manage 
implementation. 

Review, timeline, 
establish project 
team,  then procure 
and implement 
system from 
preferred supplier 
including training etc 
it is initially 
estimated this will 
take 2 years. 

Project team to be 
established from 
internal resources, 
although full time 
project manager 
may be required. 

Cost to be met by 
HRA budget.  
 
 

 

80



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

 

and implement 
new system. 

total costs. Then 
necessary Cabinet 
report. 

 6. Complete Choice 
Based Letting 
(CBL) and 
allocation review 
process and 
achieve 
introduction of 
revised policy and 
CBL solution 
including training 
and full and 
detailed 
consultation. 

Significant work on 
process for acquiring 
new CBL solution 
completed. 
Consultation, 
Cabinet, and costs 
along with practical 
timeline still to be 
confirmed 

Review work 
completed, draft 
project plan and 
report to Cabinet 
as required to 
complete 
procurement. 

This is a complex 
project, consultation 
on policy changes 
likely to extensive. 
Also, selection of 
new CBL system to 
be considered in 
context of new 
Housing 
Management 
system. Timeline 
summer 2021. 

Project team to be 
established likely 
same as for 
Housing 
Management 
system. Final 
system 
requirement for 
CBL to be secured. 
Intensive 
consultation 
needs to be fully 
understood.  

Costs to be met by 
HRA budget.  

 

 7. Capital 
improvements 
programme 
priorities for 
21/22 financial 
year agreed and 
including 
potential new 
environmental 
priorities. For 
example, a 
fencing 
programme, 
windows, door 
entry systems, 

To understand how 
current priorities are 
agreed and 
implemented. 
Details from any 
stock condition 
activities will not be 
received for many 
months. However, 
there is a need to 
improve homes and 
estate 
environments. So 
21/22 financial year 
to be transition year 

Agree revised 
programme of 
priorities and 
adjust HRA budget 
as required, with 
the Portfolio 
Holder and advise 
Members. Assess 
procurement 
impacts and 
capacity as part of 
process. 

Realign budget 
priorities for the HRA 
in time to implement 
from April 2021. 
Agree Procurement 
needs. 

To be clarified and 
confirmed as part 
of process of 
revision. 

To be confirmed after 
programme priorities 
revised and new 
Housing 
development 
programme 
proposed. There may 
need to be a review 
of procurement 
capacity. 
 
 

 

81



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

 

works for FRA’S, 
lift maintenance, 
and electrical 
certification.  

ahead of new Asset 
Management Plan is 
developed. 

 8. Complete review 
of core housing 
Key Performance 
Indicators and 
customer 
standards for 
Housing service. 
To include key 
issues such as 
void times and 
performance, 
jobs out of time, 
compliance 
services, housing 
management, etc.   

This area of activity 
has not yet been 
reviewed fully, with 
the procedures and 
key data to be 
looked at. Audit 
report identifies key 
risk areas. 

Begin process of 
review and then 
agree priorities 
for action. 

Completion 
December 2020. 
Separate voids 
performance report 
on 
recommendations to 
improve 
performance issues 
to emerge Jan 2021. 

No resource 
impacts identified 
at this time. 

None currently, but 
objective to improve 
performance outputs 
and compliance 
reporting. Possible 
revenue increase 
expected as void 
times are reduced, 
and more homes for 
letting to those on 
waiting list. 
 
 

 

 9. Review key 
reports and 
activities, 
performance 
issues underway. 
This includes the 
independent 
Consultants 
report relating to 
Riverside. 

New executive 
summary and 
recommendations 
approach for 
reporting to 
members agreed for 
Riverside. 

Presentation to 
Rural and 
Communities OSC 
12th November 
2020. Then 
Governance and 
Audit and finally 
Council to receive 
report 26th 
November 2020.  

Complete final draft 
presentation 
arrangements and 
agree with Portfolio 
Holder. 

Impacts and full 
recommendation 
implementation 
complete from 
October 2020.  

Outcome awaited 
following OSC, 
Governance and 
Audit and full 
Council. 
Tenant letter to be 
sent to all tenants, 
engagement with 
Regulator 
commenced.  

 

 10. Grounds 
maintenance 
contract review. 

Meeting to review 
contract structure.  

Complete review 
of specification 
and cost base.  

Review commences 
October 2020 and 

Impacts to be 
assessed and 
resources agreed. 

Addition costs to be 
met by HRA budget.  

 

82



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

 

 
 

complete November 
2020. 

 

 11. Wider issues of 
non-compliance 
identified by 
Internal Audit 
report recently 
received. 
Complete 
contract review 
and ensure all 
procurement for 
core contracts 
renewed is in 
place. 
 

Initial meeting with 
Auditor completed 
and comments to 
auditor in October.  

Submission of 
dates to deal 
effectively with 
risk issues to 
auditor by first 
week October 
2020 completed. 
Final report issued 
by Auditor. 

Process of 
improvement will 
deal with those high-
risk noncompliance 
issues and early H&S 
issues that can be 
managed effectively 
without delay. These 
to be reported to 
members and 
tracked through 
Leader meetings and 
is underway. 

To be fully 
assessed Some 
capital 
programme 
adjustments and 
budget 
adjustments being 
made as part of 
budget process.  

To be fully assessed. 
The revised Asset 
Management 
Strategy and HRA 
Business plan will 
complete the total 
budget impacts these 
expected 
November/December 
2021. 
 

 

 12. Complete review 
of all key strategy 
documents 
including Tenancy 
Strategy, Housing 
Strategy, strategy, 
Asset 
Management 
Strategy, and HRA 
Business Plan. 

Work plan to be 
agreed and 
confirmed around 
strategy reviews, 
this includes audit 
report dates for key 
strategy needs.  

Complete full 
review of key 
documents and 
identify full work 
plan and 
timelines. 

New strategic 
documents, will 
emerge throughout 
2021. 

No resource 
impacts identified 
at present. 
Additional 
resources to assist 
with project 
support for driving 
forward 
compliance 
improvements to 
be agreed. 

None identified at 
present. Task and 
Finish Group 
established time 
allocations being 
estimated currently 
and staffing budget 
amended 
accordingly. 
 
 

 83



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

 

 13. Sheltered housing 
compliance and 
operational 
review required. 

Work plan to be 
agreed to review 
Sheltered housing 
services, currently 
under consideration. 

Establish areas of 
urgent review 
around service 
provision and 
compliance needs 
by October 2020, 
completed. 

Initial instructions 
issued and work 
being monitored and 
tracked by Leader 
Group. 

No resource 
impacts identified 
yet but new 
resources highly 
likely to improve 
services, 
technology 
solutions etc. 

Complete thorough 
compliance review 
and agree new 
service levels costs to 
be offset in part by 
new Service charge 
policy if approved. 
Budget adjustments  
2021/22 will be 
necessary but 
difficult to assess at 
present ahead of 
critical FRA 
inspections. 

 

 14.  Empty Homes 
Strategy. 

The Council does 
not have an up to 
date Empty Homes 
Strategy and this will 
be drafted to rectify 
this position. 

Once drafted and 
if approved by 
Council this will 
come to the 
housing team to 
deliver. 

Draft Strategy early 
2021. 

Strategy to be 
drafted internally 
with officers from 
other 
departments so 
no resource 
implications on 
housing service 
until it is adopted 
when resource 
issues to be 
identified.  

None identified at 
present.  
It maybe possible for 
the Council to secure 
additional funding to 
bring its empty 
homes back into use 
the Homes England 
bidding process. This 
requires strategy to 
be approved.  

 

84



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

 

 15.  Preferred 
developer status 
for Homes 
England grant.  

An initial application 
has been submitted 
to the Council for 
Home England 
consideration. 

There will need to 
be a review of any 
documents from 
legal if the Council 
is accepted and to 
look at the draft 
contract.  

Initial application has 
already been 
submitted. Outcome 
known early 2021   

No resource 
impacts identified 
currently.  

None identified at 
present, this could 
provide the Council 
with additional 
funding streams if we 
are successful.  

 

 

85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Inquiry into the  

Riverside Upgrade Project  

 

 Executive Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Julie Picken 

 

87



2 
 

Glossary 

  

CPPR – Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules 

HDU - Heat Distribution Unit or heat exchanger 

HSE – Health and Safety Executive 

PO – Project Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

88



3 
 

1. Introduction 

This executive summary seeks to summarise the content of a detailed inquiry into the Council’s 

management of the provision of hot water and heating services to the residents of Riverside. The 

inquiry was conducted by Julie Picken, an independent HR Consultant, who has previously completed 

employment investigations for the Council and had the necessary background knowledge and 

experience. She was commissioned on 20 January 2020 and submitted her report on 17 March 2020. 

 

2. Background 

The Council’s Riverside Upgrade project was to rerun all existing heating services from the main plant 

room to each of the 90 properties on the Riverside Scheme by replacing the original pipework between 

the main boiler and each property. Work began on site on 29 April 2019 and was supposed to have 

been completed by the end of August 2019. The project had experienced a number of delays and 

residents, many of whom were elderly or vulnerable, were still reliant on temporary heating and hot 

water measures in January 2020. 

 

On 31 October 2019 during a site visit the HSE issued a prohibition notice enforcing a cease and desist 

notice on the construction/improvement project at Riverside. The prohibition notice was based upon 

the concern that construction / improvement work was being undertaken by contractors without the 

proper asbestos survey information having been provided by the Council employee responsible or the 

correct checks having taken place. It came to light that the Project Officer concerned had provided the 

wrong asbestos survey information for the type of work being carried out by the contractor at the 

start of the project in April 2019 and this had not been identified by contractors or SKDC employees. 

As a result, contractors, SKDC employees, residents and the general public could have been put at risk 

of exposure to asbestos.  

 

The legislation governing the management of asbestos is set out in Section 2 and 3 of the Health and 

Safety at Work Act 1974, the Control of Asbestos at Work Regulations 2012 and the Construction 

(Design and Management) Regulations 2015. South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) have a Corporate 

Health and Safety Asbestos Management Policy and the Property and Facilities Asbestos Management 

Procedure which provide guidance and set the standard required when managing asbestos. 

 

3. Objective  

a) To investigate the facts relating to each of the areas set out at 4 below and provide a report of the 

findings and recommendations. 

89



4 
 

b) Based on the evidence gathered, identify appropriate actions to for the Council to consider adopting 

when approaching projects of this nature in future. 

 

4. Scope  

a) To explore available information relating to the approach taken by SKDC in the past to provide hot 

water and heating services to the residents of Riverside. 

b) To explore the commissioning process used to appoint the Contractor to carry out the work on site 

and whether this followed the agreed SKDC process. 

c) To explore the management of the project from when work began on site on 29 April 2019 until 

completion, to include: 

 Reference to existing SKDC policies and procedures 

 Actions of SKDC employees involved in managing the project or working on it prior to 31 

October 2019 and the reasons for the project being behind schedule at that point 

 Actions of SKDC employees involved in managing the project or working on it after asbestos 

was discovered on 31 October 2019 

 Steps taken by SKDC employees since 31 October 2019 to improve project management and 

governance arrangements 

d) To explore the impact of the project on Riverside residents, to include: 

 Delays to the project being completed 

 The discovery of asbestos on site 

 Whether the level of engagement provided by SKDC employees to Riverside residents 

throughout the project, from the initial communication relating to the works required through 

to completion, met their expectations 

 Whether the response from SKDC employees to any issues or concerns raised by Riverside 

residents met their expectations 

 Riverside residents’ suggestions to improve levels of engagement between themselves and 

the Council 

 

5. Approach 

Relevant Council policies and procedures were examined, and actions of Council employees assessed 

against the standards required. Residents of Riverside were notified that an independent inquiry was 

taking place and were invited to submit information to Julie Picken over a 4-week period until 28.2.20. 

A submission from relative of a resident, had been received on 20.1.20 providing a lot of detail and 

supporting evidence which set out the problems residents had experienced with heating and hot 

90



5 
 

water since 2016 and how he had raised these issues with SKDC employees and in open Council 

meetings. The relative of the resident agreed to be interviewed and provided a statement to clarify 

points within the evidence submitted. The Project Officer concerned was not interviewed, having left 

the Council’s employment. All other relevant Council employees were interviewed and provided 

documentary evidence to support their statements.  

 

6. Findings 

6.1 To explore available information relating to the approach taken by SKDC in the past to provide 

hot water and heating services to the residents of Riverside. 

On the available evidence the decisions in 2012 and 2016 to replace parts of the heating and hot water 

system without a full review of the whole system, bearing in mind the age of the connecting pipework, 

could be seen now as short-sighted. As those involved in these decisions were no longer employed by 

SKDC this was not explored further. 

 

There was evidence in the minutes of meetings between the gas contractor and the Council from 

15.12.16 that issues with hot water and heating which followed the installation of Heat Distribution 

Units (HDUs) in 2016 were known to some Council employees from 1.11.18. Minutes of the meeting 

on 1.11.18 included a warning from the gas contractor against using HDUs at Riverside prior to their 

installation, along with recommendations for a different system. In March 2017 there was discussion 

of obtaining quotes for a full pump and pipe upgrade but then this appears not to have been followed 

up on. 

 

It was clear from the evidence presented by the relative of the resident in his submission and at 

interview that serious issues with heating and hot water began for residents in 2016 after the heat 

exchangers were installed. The evidence suggested that no action had been taken by the Council at 

any point to investigate the root cause of these problems. This was despite extensive evidence from 

a relative of a resident that concerns had been raised consistently using a variety of different 

approaches. One explanation for the Council not acting until December 2018 may be that there was 

no central method of recording incoming issues/complaints about heating and hot water and the 

evidence suggests there may also have been a lack of recording altogether. This could have resulted 

in Council employees not recognising trends or patterns which could have prompted escalation and 

action sooner. 

 

91



6 
 

The evidence suggests a failure of accurate recording systems and management oversight, leading to 

a lack of action by the Council to investigate and resolve the root cause of the concerns raised by 

residents for over 2 years from the summer of 2016, until a decision to replace the pipework was made 

in January 2019. As a result, residents suffered inconsistent or lack of heating and hot water for a 

much longer period than necessary. 

 

6.2 To explore the commissioning process used to appoint the Contractor to carry out the work on 

site and whether this followed the agreed SKDC process. 

The evidence demonstrated that Council employees had followed the CPPR process correctly using a 

reputable framework which they had used successfully before, to commission the contractor to carry 

out the work. There was no evidence that they had acted other than in good faith. 

 

One area of concern in respect of the commissioning process is whether the PO was sufficiently 

experienced and qualified to provide sufficient and detailed information about the Riverside project 

and what the Council required. The decision to recommend the contractor was based on this 

information. The available evidence suggests the PO may not have been sufficiently experienced to 

perform this role and reflecting with hindsight it was considered by a senior manager that it may have 

been better to have employed a suitably qualified external consultant.  

 

The pre-contract documentation and meeting on 23.4.19 highlighted a number of actions for the PO 

and contractor to complete before work started, yet several of these actions were not completed on 

both sides. It may be that senior managers did not feel the pressure to get the work started in April 

was too much, but perhaps the PO did. The evidence suggests the senior manager did not see a final 

version of the PO’s work on the contract, nor double checked all the necessary pre contract actions 

had been completed before work started. 

 

6.3 To explore the management of the project from when work began on site on 29 April 2019 until 

completion 

Many pre-contract actions from the meeting on 23.4.19 between the Council and contractor were not 

completed by the PO or the contractor. The Construction Phase Plan (CPP) was not updated by byt 

the contractor nor were plans for how the work was to be completed. A Project Check sheet was not 

completed by the PO. The FH10 notification was in the shared drive, completed and noted as sent to 

the HSE on 23.4.19 by the PO, but appears not to have been sent as is required. There was no record 

92



7 
 

of any monitoring of the contract with the contractor in terms of monthly contract meetings or weekly 

site visits. 

 

There was no risk register for the project. The PO had not followed the Corporate Health and Safety 

Asbestos Management Policy and the Property and Facilities Asbestos Management Procedure. This 

was a serious breach of the standards required as set out in Control of Asbestos at Work Regulations 

2012 and was gross misconduct. The PO had also not followed the prescribed procedure for Council 

building projects set out in the Project Check Sheet and Guidance Notes. Expertise within the Council 

had not been utilised to support risk assessment. It transpired that Equality impact assessments are 

not routinely carried out by POs at the start of a project as part of the risk assessment process. There 

was no record of any monitoring of the contract in terms of monthly contract meetings or weekly site 

visits. There was evidence of unsafe site management with obvious risks to contractors and residents, 

which indicated a lack of any management of the site by the contractors and any monitoring by Council 

employees. 

 

There were clear signs that the project was behind on 1.8.19 when the health and safety concerns 

were raised by the Health and Safety Compliance Officer but there appears to have been little effort 

by senior managers in the PO’s 7 week sickness absence, to try to get the works back on track and 

start to robustly manage the contract. The approach appeared to be to wait for the PO to return and 

sort it out. 

 

From 1.11.19 the evidence suggests a more structured and robust approach to deal with the discovery 

of asbestos quickly and effectively and manage the contract to ensure the work was completed 

without unnecessary further delay. 

 

There was evidence of some effort to improve project management and governance arrangements 

but overall, the evidence suggested reliance on the existing policies and procedures. These are 

detailed and robust if followed correctly, which was usually the case. The PO was trusted to work on 

the Riverside project unsupervised, with no formal checking of the evidence of his actions by 

managers. No evidence was found of steps being taken which could prevent this happening again.  

 

6.4 To explore the impact of the project on Riverside residents 

The evidence is clear that the residents experienced considerable hardship when the project did not 

complete on time at the end of August 2019 and instead continued throughout the coldest winter 

93



8 
 

months until February 2020. Temporary measures were put in place by the Council, but these were 

insufficient to provide enough hot water, and enough heat to keep the homes warm. At interview two 

employees were clearly moved by the situation they had found several residents in and expressed 

concern at how “…we could have done this to people”. The accounts of residents’ individual 

experiences and the effect on their own health within the Grantham Journal articles illustrated how 

detrimental the impact of the delays had been on their day to day lives for so long. It would have been 

difficult for younger, fitter people to cope with coming into a cold home after a day at work but for 

these residents, in the main elderly, retired, some with long term health issues it was so much worse. 

 

Another impact of the delays was the feeling expressed by residents that they had been let down, 

were not cared about, and were lied to. This was partly because the problems with heating and hot 

water had gone on since 2016 but then once the upgrade project started there were so many missed 

deadlines that they lost faith in anything they were told by the Council. 

 

The evidence suggests that the impact of the discovery of asbestos for most residents was fairly 

minimal; the asbestos being less of an issue than the resulting additional delay to the work being 

completed. 

 

The evidence suggests that the level of engagement provided by SKDC employees throughout the 

project did not meet the resident’s expectations; instead leaving them feeling frustrated, upset and 

unable to believe any new deadlines for the work to be completed, because of so many previous 

assurances not being met. However, there was evidence of improvements in the level of engagement 

following other Council employees becoming involved from 1 November 2019. 

 

The evidence indicated few suggestions had been received from residents. A relative of a resident had 

several ideas which were focused on ensuring individual residents’ needs were identified at the start 

so communications and action could be tailored accordingly. Identifying a named point of contact and 

escalation point was also mentioned although it was noted each of the letters to residents already 

contained a point of contact.  Honesty in communication and a regular and approachable presence on 

site, to speak to and take responsibility for dealing with any issues, had been welcomed following 

other employees becoming involved from 1 November 2019. 

 
 

 

 

94



9 
 

7. Recommendations 

The following actions were identified for consideration when approaching projects of this nature in 

future. There are resource implications for some of these actions, but more rigorous governance is 

certainly required.  

 

 Urgently establish a single point for all calls concerning hot water and heating issues to be 

taken and recorded. Manage that data in a manner which ensures the correct components of 

the data can be extracted to quantify specific information, provide qualitative detail to 

support the figures and thus facilitate analysis e.g. highlighting peaks in calls from a particular 

location. Review the data quarterly, record that review and analysis and sign off the review 

process at a Senior Management level. 

 Continue with the review of all housing with similar commercial type hot water and heating 

systems. Seek expert opinion on the best long-term methods of providing hot water and 

heating systems in line with other SKDC strategies e.g. environmental, alternative power 

sources, sustainability. 

 At the start of a project identify a Project Officer (PO) who has the relevant knowledge, skills, 

and qualifications to ensure correct specifications are provided for procurement, and if not 

available bring in specialist expertise. 

 Work more collaboratively and utilise internal expertise: 

o To support POs to identify risks and ensure compliance with Asbestos Management 

and Health and Safety legislation invite the Asbestos Co-ordinator and Health and 

Safety Compliance Officer to pre-contract meetings with contractors, or in-house 

meetings when work is to be carried out by SKDC operatives. 

o To support POs to identify risks and ensure compliance with Equality legislation by 

liaising with Housing colleagues e.g. Sheltered Officers in identifying mitigating 

actions to ensure individual residents needs are identified and responded to in such a 

way that there is no adverse/disproportionate impact on protected groups. 

 Develop a communications plan setting out methods and frequency of communications, 

tailored to ensure those with particular needs are met and review as the project progresses. 

Be honest if problems arise which may cause delays and provide opportunities to explain the 

issues face to face as this appears to be valued by residents. 

 Continue with the work to ensure one shared drive which the whole team has access to with 

a standard file structure. 

95



10 
 

 The Health and Safety Compliance Officer or Asbestos Co-ordinator as appropriate, to conduct 

Health and Safety and Asbestos Management audits every 3 months on existing projects by 

accessing the shared drive documents, recording the outcome, and providing feedback to PO 

and Senior Manager. 

 The Health and Safety Compliance Officer or Asbestos Co-ordinator as appropriate, to conduct 

unannounced site visits to carry out observations and ask relevant questions of operators/site 

supervisor to ensure compliance with Health and Safety and Asbestos Management 

legislation.  

 

Project Management 

To ensure tighter project management and governance key stages should be formally recorded and 

signed off by the PO and these should be checked and countersigned as correct by a Senior Manager. 

To facilitate this the following template documents should be developed: 

 Assigning a PO and Deputy with responsibility to manage a project. 

 Specification of the works for tender or framework.  

 Content of draft contracts before being sent off. 

 A list of all pre-contract actions and information to be exchanged, signed as completed by the 

PO and checked and countersigned by a Senior Manager before work begins. 

 Record of the dates of all meetings which take place between the PO and Contractor to 

monitor delivery of the contract. The template to include dates of site visits as well as the 

monthly contract management meetings. 

 If not already in place templates for the monthly contract meeting agenda and recording the 

minutes of the meeting. 

Management actions 

 Regular recorded one to ones to be carried out at all levels to ensure accountability for actions 

and checking of outputs. Senior managers to check that their reporting managers are all doing 

this within their one to ones. 

 Continue with efforts to create more of a “one team” culture across both sites, with 

employees encouraged to provide positive and constructive challenge.  

 Continue the recent practice of two PO’s checking each other’s project folders to include site 

visits. Feedback could be informal, but it is important to record the exercise has taken place. 

This exercise could be carried out quarterly. 

96



11 
 

 Encourage including in house expertise Health and Safety Compliance Officer, Asbestos Co-

ordinator and Housing colleagues at the earliest opportunity and promote this positively as 

collaborative working and part of a one Council approach. 

 
 
 

97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

18  

Council 
26 September 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Minutes of meetings of the Cabinet approved since 
1 October 2020 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 13 October 2020 (approved by the Cabinet on 3 
November 2020) are provided for Councillors’ information. The minutes of the meeting held on 3 
November 2020 will be made available at a future meeting of the Council following their approval by 
the Cabinet.  

 

Report Author 

Shelley Thirkell, Acting Principal Democratic Officer 

Tel: 01476 406152 

Email:  shelley.thirkell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Dan Snowdon, Interim Head of Governance 17 November 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 18 November 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 18 November 2020 

 

Recommendation to the decision maker  

1. The Council is asked to note the approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
13 October 2020 (attached as appendix 1 and 2 to this report). 

99

Agenda Item 5a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 
1.1 This report has attached to it the minutes of the following Cabinet meeting:  

- Appendix 1: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 13 October 2020. 

Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public may be excluded 
from the meeting during any listed items of business, on the grounds that if they were to be present, 
exempt information could be disclosed to them as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
 

- Appendix 2: Exempt minute, St. Martin’s Park 

1.2 The agenda, reports to Cabinet and individual Cabinet Member decisions are published on 

the Council’s website. 

 

 

100



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 13 October 2020 
 
This meeting was held virtually using 
Skype for Business 

 

 

 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
 
Non-Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
 
Officers  

 
Chief Executive (Karen Bradford) 
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing Delivery (Ken Lyon) 
Interim Director of Finance (Richard Wyles) 
Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith) 
Director of Law and Governance (Shahin Ismail) 
Head of Leisure (Karen Whitfield) 
Head of Governance (Jo Toomey) 
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West) 
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor) 
 
1. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
All Cabinet Members were present. 
 
2. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record of the decisions taken. 
 

101



 

 

In response to a question it was confirmed that an all Member briefing would be held 
on 21 October 2020 to discuss leisure provision in the district.  This would be 
followed by a meeting to look specifically at the proposals fo the Deepings Leisure 
Centre.  
 
3. Disclosure of Interests (if any) 
 
None disclosed. 
 
4. Review of Public Space Protection Orders 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations presented the report on the 
statutory requirement to review Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) every three 
years.  He stated that Public Space Protection Orders were an efficient tool to be 
used to tackle anti-social behaviour.  The Council’s PSPOs covered dog control and 
anti-social behaviour relating to alcohol in designated public spaces.  The only 
changes proposed to the Orders related to the realignment of boundaries to coincide 
with the Council’s Ward boundaries, which had been changed since the PSPOs were 
put in place.  A representation had been received from Market Deeping Town Council 
to include The Spinney at Market Deeping within a PSPO.  
 
A four-week consultation had been undertaken as required by the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 including the proposal for The Spinney at 
Market Deeping. The consultation showed support for the original PSPOs including 
the proposal for The Spinney at Market Deeping.  
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED that Cabinet: 
 

1) Notes the results of the public consultation on the extension of the existing 
Public Space Protection Orders and proposed Public Space Protection Order to 
control dogs at The Spinney, Market Deeping Cemetery. 

2) Approves the Public Space Protection Orders relating to dog fouling and the 
requirement for dogs to be placed on leads on order of an officer for a three 
year period from 20 October 2020. 

3) Approves the Public Space Protection Order relating to alcohol control for a 
three year period from 20 October 2020. 

4) Approves the Public Space Protection Order excluding dogs from enclosed 
children’s play areas for a three year period from 20 October 2020.   

5) Approves the implementation of a new Public Space Protection Order requiring 
dogs to be kept on leads of no more than 1 metre in length in The Spinney, 
Market Deeping Cemetery for a period of three years from 20 October 2020.  

5. Community Funding 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities presented the report on community funding.  
She highlighted the proposed changes to the eligibility of the SK Community Fund 
following the review, which had been discussed at the Rural and Communities 

102



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 10 September 2020.  The proposed changes 
included the introduction of a new grant category, eligibility, the maximum grant 
allowance to reduce from £10,000 to £5,000 and the reduction in the time period for 
groups to claim awards from two years to one year.  The proposals also included the 
removal of the ability for Parish and Town Councils to access the fund.   
 
Cabinet Members supported the proposed changes but there was consensus that 
Parish and Town Councils should not be excluded.  
 
A question was asked about InvestSK grants to which the Leader responded. A 
further question was asked about publishing details of grants that had been awarded 
and it was confirmed that these were published on South Kesteven District Council 
website and circulated in the Members newsletter. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED that Cabinet: 
 
1. Approves the changes to the SK Community Fund relating to eligibility, maximum 

grant allowed and the capping of the claiming period for awards to one year as 
per the amended grant criteria appended at Appendix A to the report of the 
Cabinet Member for Communities subject to parish and town councils being 
included within the eligibility criteria. 

2. Delegates authority to the Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Communities, to finalise arrangements 
with the Lincolnshire Community Foundation/similar groups and, if appropriate, to 
enter into an agreement on behalf of the Council for a proportion of the budget 
allocated to the SK Community Fund to be utilised to enable greater pound-for-
pound matching of grant funding. 

 
6. Planning White Paper Consultation Response 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning presented the report which included 
a draft response to the Planning White Paper. The response to the consultation was 
due to be submitted to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
by 29 October 2020.   
 
He explained that the intention of the White Paper was to overhaul the planning 
system, streamlining the planning process, cutting red tape, harnessing technology to 
build homes faster, protecting green spaces and building more on brownfield sites.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning felt that the Planning White Paper 
lacked detail and was selective with the evidence that it used, making it difficult to 
respond to the consultation.    
 
Areas highlighted included: 
 

 How plans would be made in the future and whether decision-making and 
plan-making would be an integral part of the system.  

 Whether development management could be dealt with through one policy as 
each area of the country had its own specific characteristics.   

103



 

 

 More detail was needed for plans to look beyond the current ten years 
especially in relation to major developments which required additional 
infrastructure. 

 Proposals for growth and renewal area zoning had some merit. 

 Faster decision making – changes should be well designed for a speedier and 
simplified process. 

 Planning information to be readily accessible. 

 Concerns that community engagement restricted the opportunity for 
communities to engage in the planning system. 

 Concern that fully adopted Neighbourhood Plans were not being given the 
necessary consideration within the planning reforms as contained in the White 
Paper consultation.   

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning acknowledged the large amount of 
work undertaken by communities in compiling a Neighbourhood Plan.  He stated that 
Neighbourhood Plans should be given due consideration within the planning process. 
 
Cabinet Members agreed that Neighbourhood Plans should be given weight within 
the planning process.  They also felt that more detail was required around climate 
change within the planning process.  
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED: 
 
That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Planning for submitting a response to the Government 
White Paper on Planning Reform by 29 October 2020. 

 
7. Award of Contract to Tunstall for Sheltered Housing Telecare System 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning presented the report on awarding the 
contract for the annual sheltered housing telecare and maintenance and digitalisation 
of the telecare equipment.  Currently the Sheltered Housing Schemes used a BT 
analogue phone system.  BT expected to have changed all UK phone lines to an 
IP/digital connection by 2025. 
 
Cabinet Members noted that the current Tunstall equipment needed upgrading to 
enable the Council to deliver the alarm monitoring service and meet the new 
digitalisation programme.  At the same time the annual alarm maintenance and 
monitoring contract would be put in place to enable them to be combined for a five-
year period. 
 
Cabinet Members were supportive of the awarding of the contract. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED: 

1. To approve the award of the digitalisation and maintenance contracts to 
Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Ltd for a contract period of five years through a direct 
award from the Procurement for Housing framework. 

104



 

 

2. That the total contract values in respect of the digitalisation and maintenance 
contracts is £500,000 and £780,000 respectively, totalling £1,280,000 over the 
five-year period. 

 
8. Lease of Linchfield Road 
 
The Deputy Leader presented the report on the lease of Linchfield Road Playing 
Field site as the preferred site for the new Deeping Leisure Centre.   Discussions had 
been undertaken with Deeping St James Parish Council and the Anthem Schools 
Trust who had a legal interest in the parcels of land making up the site.   
 
Cabinet Members noted that the Council had been invited to submit a grant 
application to the Football Foundation, which had identified the Deepings as a priority 
area for the provision of an artificial turf pitch. If the application was successful a new 
pitch could be in place on the site by October 2021. 
 
Members welcomed the progress made in relation to the project. Concern was 
expressed about the loss of the hockey pitch and comments made in relation to 
acquiring land adjacent to the site for an extra pitch or car parking.  A question was 
also asked about whether the Deepings Special Expense Area would be abolished.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources stated that the Special Expense 
Area would be considered by the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The Deputy Leader stressed that once the lease had been agreed further 
topographical survey work would need to be undertaken in relation to the site.  Once 
the survey had been undertaken further meetings would take place with all relevant 
stakeholders, interested parties and Councillors. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED: 
 

1. To note the content of the Deputy Leader’s report and approve the Council 
entering into a leasehold arrangement to secure the Linchfield Road Playing 
Field site for development and to agree to meet third parties’ legal costs. 

2. To delegate authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council, to agree the final terms of the lease subject to survey. 

3. To agree to provide a Letter of Intent to the Football Foundation in order to 
commence an application for funding to develop an Artificial Turf Pitch on the 
site.  

 
9. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations briefly outlined the 
recommendations that had been made by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 6 October 2020 and the Climate Change Task and 
Finish Group which were detailed in the Leaders report.  The recommendations were 
seconded.  
 

105



 

 

On being put to the vote, it was AGREED that Cabinet: 
 

1. Directs the Climate Change Reserve Fund towards an upgrade of light fittings 
at the Guildhall Arts Centre, with the remainder directed towards the 
acceleration of the existing upgrade of streetlights project across the District. 

2. Notes that the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has requested 
that another Climate Change Reserve, of at least £20,000, be considered in 
the 2021/22 budget. 

3. Notes that other recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
are included within separate reports before Cabinet. 

 
10. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
The Leader of the Council presented his report on Key and Non-Key decisions taken 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet.  Only one Non-Key decision had been taken on 
the Rough Sleeper Initiative Funding.  
 
11. Representations and questions from Non-Cabinet Members 
 
A non-Cabinet member asked about the process for appointing an Interim Director of 
Growth and Culture and whether the Employment Committee would be involved. The 
Chief Executive stated that the interim appointment would only be for a short period 
of time and did not require input from the Employment Committee.  Three recruitment 
agencies had been contacted in relation to permanent appointments and the 
Employment Committee would become involved once candidates had been 
shortlisted. 
 
12. Cabinet Forward Plan 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2021 
 
Cabinet Members noted the Forward Plan for 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2021 
which was appended to the agenda.  The Forward Plan listed items to be presented 
to Cabinet in the next 12 months. 
 

Exclusion of Press and Public 
 
It was proposed, seconded and agreed to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the  Local Government Act 1972 
during consideration of the following item of business because of the likelihood that 
otherwise exempt information, as described in paragraph 3 of the Act would be 
disclosed to them. 
 
13. St Martin's Park, Stamford project update 
 
To approve the recommendation as set out within exempt report of the Leader of the 
Council. 

The report contains exempt information under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 

106



 

 

14. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 15:35. 
 
 

107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Council 
26 November 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Decisions made under urgency provisions and 
delegated powers 
This report sets out those decisions that have been made under urgency provisions set out within 
the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012 and the Council’s Constitution. 

 

Report Author 

Shelley Thirkell, Acting Principal Democratic Officer 

Tel: 01476 406152 

Email: shelley.thirkell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Dan Snowdon, Interim Head of Governance 17 November 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 18 November 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 18 November 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Council notes the contents of this report. 

109

Agenda Item 5b

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
Decisions made under the General Exception Procedure  

1.1 Article 17.7.2(c) of the Council’s Constitution sets out the procedure for making Key 

Decisions where it has not been possible to give 28 days’ advanced notice by publishing 

the intention to make the decision on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.  

1.2 Since Council last met on 1 October 2020, one decision has been made under the 

General Exception procedure, as detailed below. 

1.2.1 St. Martin’s Park, Stamford – project update 

Key decision taken by the Cabinet on 13 October 2020 

Date decision effective: Thursday 22 October 2020 

The decision was made following the notification of the Chairman of the Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

It had not been possible to give 28-days’ prior notice of the intention to make the decision 
on the Forward Plan because the recommendations of the Council’s agent were not 
received until 15 September 2020 and the Forward Plan listing decisions to be taken on 
13 October 2020 was published on 14 September 2020. The decision could not be 
deferred until the Cabinet meeting on 1 November 2020 as it would slow down the sale of 
the site and there creating the potential to lose the interest of companies that bid for the 
development, which were awaiting the Council’s decision.  

The report and minutes for this item are exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because they contain information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of an individual or organisation.  

Copies of the report and its appendices can be made available to Members on request by 
contacting the Democratic Services Team.  

 

110



Document is Restricted

111

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2019/20
	Appendix 1 - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report

	4 Housing Compliance Audit 2020 including Riverside Inquiry and Housing Development Update
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	5a Meetings of the Cabinet
	Appendix 1 - Minutes , 13/10/2020 Cabinet

	5b Decisions made under urgency provisions
	9 Meetings of Cabinet - Appendix 2

